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Robert J. DAVIDSON, Jr., Plaintiff, 
v. 

John L. COOK, et al., Defendants, 
v. 

AETNA LIFE & CASUALTY CO., et al., Third- 
Party Defendants. 

Civ. A. No. 81-0913-R. 

June 30, 1983 

Participant in heaitn and welfare benefit trust fund 
established under Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act brought action against current and 
former trustees and plan administrator alleging 
breach of statutory duties in connection with 
administration of hnd.  In addition, current trustees 
cross-claimed against parties who were trustees at 
time loan in excess of $1 million was made to 
interested party. The District Court, Merhige, J., held 
that: (1) plaintiffs claims with regard to original and 
supplemental loan were not time barred; (2) plaintiffs 
claims in connection with defendant's failure to 
diversify investment, failure to follow plan 
documents, engaging in party-in-interest transactions, 
transfer of assets to party in interest, and engaging in 
transaction involving conflict of interest were time 
barred; (3) lending trustees violated sections which 
require fiduciaries to exercise their duties for 
exclusive purpose of providing benefits to 
n a r t i r i n l n t c  md tJLek beneficiaries, to invest 
k'-- ""'Y""'" 

prudently and to avoid transactions which present 
conflicts of interest; (4) trustees' failure to divest fund 
of loan did not constitute violation of statute; (5) 
current trustees' failure to raise interest rates on loan 
and conduct in waiving penalties for late payment of 
interest did not constitute transfer of assets within 
meaning of statute; (6) administrator was fiduciary 
within meaning of statute and liable for breach of its 
fiduciary duty; (7) lending trustees and administrator 
were jointly and severally liable for losses. 

Order accordingly. 
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West Headnotes 

JIJ Labor and Employment 2328  -475 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 IHVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 lHVII(C;! Fiduciaries and Trustees 
23 1Hk475 k. Duties in General. Most Cited 

Cases 
(Formerly 296k43.1, 296k43, 255k78.1(7) Master 

and Servant) 
Under section of Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act governing fiduciary duties, fiduciary is 
required to discharge his duties for exclusive purpose 
of providing benefits to participants and their 
beneficiaries. Employee Retirement Income Security 
Act of 1974, 5 404(a)(l)(A)(i), as amended, 29 
U.S.C.A. 6 1 104(a)(I)(A)(i). 

Labor and Employment 231H -490 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1 HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 lHVII(Q Fiduciaries and Trustees 
23 1Hk487 Investments and Expenditures 

23 1 Hk490 k. Diversification. Most 
Cited Cases 

(Formerly 296k48, 255k78.1(7) Master and 
Servant) 
Fiduciaries of trust fund established under Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act must diversify plan's 
investments unless under circumstances it is clearly 
prudent not to do so. Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act of 1974, 5 404(a)(l)(C), as amended, 29 
U.S.C.A. 6 1104(a)(l)(C). 

Labor and Employment 231H -497 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 1 HVII(C1 Fiduciaries and Trustees 
23 1 Hk495 Persons Liable 

231Hk497 k. Co-Fiduciaries. Most 
Cited Cases 

(Formerly 296k49, 255k78.1(7) Master and 
Servant) 
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Under Employee Retirement Income Security Act, 
fiduciary is liable for cofiduciary's breach of 
fiduciary duties if he knowingly participates in or 
conceals such breach; furthermore, fiduciary is 
required to make reasonable efforts to remedy any 
known breach by cofiduciary. Employee Retirement 
Income Security Act of 1974, 4 405(a)(l, 3), as 
amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 6 ! 105(a)(l, 3). 

Labor and Employment 231H -648 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 1 HVII(K) Actions 
231HVII(K)3 Actions to Enforce Statutory 

or Fiduciary Duties 
--AA-A-- 711Ulch48 k. Time to Sue a ~ d  

Limitations. Most Cited Cases 
(Formerly 296k83.1, 296k83, 232Ak13 1.3 Labor 

Relations) 
Where last action in regard to allegations involving 
original loan and supplemental loan made by 
collectively bargained for pension fund to interested 
party was in March of 1976, fund participant's action 
against current and former trustees in regards to loan 
c-;;led in 1aQ1 wzs cot hawed by six--.:ear li-itation 
provision of Employee Retirement Income Security 
Act. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 
1974,s 413, asamended, 29U.S.C.A. 6 1113. 

Labor and Employment 231H -648 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 lHVII(K) Actions 
231HVII(K)3 Actions to Enforce Statutory 

or Fiduciary Duties 
231Hk648 k. Time to Sue and 

Limitations. Most Cited Cases 
(Formerly 296k83.1, 296k83, 232Ak13 1.3 Labor 

Relations) 
Where current trustees' cross claim against lending 
trustees was based almost entirely on granting of 
original loan and supplemental loan to interested 
party by pension fund trustees, and those loans took 
place in 1975, cross claim filed November 4, 1982 
was clearly barred by six-year limitation provision; 
however, to extent cross claim concerned 
administration of loans after November 4, 1976, 
claim was not time barred. Employee Retirement 
Income Security Act of 1974, $ 413, as amended, 2 

U.S.C.A. 6 11 13. 

Labor and Employment 231H -493 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 1 HVII(C) Fiduciaries and Trustees 
23 1 Hk487 Investments and Expenditures 

23 1Hk493 k. Prohibited Transactions; 
Parties in Interest. Most Cited Cases 

(Formerly 296k48,232Ak13 1.3 Labor Relations) 
Form filed by lending trustees which disclosed that 
pension fund had party-in-interest investment in 
mortgage which had increased from $1,078,53 1 to 
$1,413,803, that fund held loan which was in default 
or classified as uncollectible as of end of year, and 
thzt fund had engaged ir, transacti~r, or series ~f 
transactions involving over 3% of fund's assets was 
sufficient to trigger three-year statute of limitations as 
of date of filing concerning trustees' failure to 
diversify investments, failure to follow plan 
documents, engaging in party-in-interest transaction, 
and transfer of assets to party in interest. Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, $ 5  
404(a)(l)!B-D), 406(a)(l)(B, D), 413(a)(2)(A), as 

39 5,E.C.A. & 11G4(a?(1?(B-D), 
I106(a)(l)(B, D), 1113(a)(2)(A). 

121 Limitation of Actions 241 -95(3) 

241 Limitation of Actions 
Comp'ritation of Period of Limitation 

24 1 II(F) Ignorance, Mistake, Trust, Fraud, 
and Concealment or Discovery of Cause of Action 

241 k95 Ignorance of Cause of Action 
241k95(3) k. Nature of Harm or 

Damage, in General. Most Cited Cases 
(Formerly 241k95(1)) 

Where member of pension fund admitted in his 
deposition that as of time he wrote letter dated May 
3 1, 1977, he knew that two trustees of pension fund 
established under Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act were at same time also directors of 
corporation to which fund had made greater than $1 
million loan, fund member had actual knowledge of 
conflict of interest in violation of Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act more than three 
years before he filed his action, and therefore, 
allegation was time-barred. Employee Retirement 
Income Security Act of 1974, $5 406(b)(2), 
413(a)(2)(A), as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 65 
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p3J Trusts 390 -217.3(1) 

390 Trusts 
3901V Management and Disposal of Trust 

Property 
390k2 16 Investments 

390k217.3 Nature of Investment or 
Security in General 

390k217.3(1) k. In General. Most Cited 
Cases 
Undercollateralization of a loan does not, by itself, 
establish breach of fiduciary duty to invest prudently. 

Labor and Employment 231H -648 

23111 Labor and Employment 
0 1 1 1  1 TT 
LJ 1 2  J I I  Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 lHVII(K) Actions 
23 lHVII(K)3 Actions to Enforce Statutory 

or Fiduciary Duties 
2311-lk648 k. Time to Sue and 

Limitations. Most Cited Cases 
(Formerly 296k48, 232Akl3 1.3 Labor Relations) 

Although member of pension fund admitted in his 
deposition that he knew in 1977 the appraised value 
of property which was value for loan, where he did 
not recall whether at that time he also knew principal 
amount of loan, trustees of pension hnd  did not 
establish that member had actual knowledge more 
than tbG.ee years prior to of +-.r+--.-~ LL u3Cbb3 al!eged 

breach of their statutorily established fiduciary duty 
to invest prudently required to invoke three-year 
limitation period. Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act of 1974, $5 404(a)(l)(B), 413(a)(2)(A), 
as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 66 1104(a)(l)(B), 
1113(a)(2)(A). 

Labor and Employment 231H -488 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benef3 Plans 

-- 7'3 1 - - -  HVII(C) Fidiuciaries and Txstees 
23 I Hk487 Investments and Expenditures 

231Hk488 k. In General. Most Cited 
Cases 

(Formerly 296k48,232Ak13 1.3 Labor Relations) 
Where lending trustees and fund's administrator did 
not hold union local's proposal for loan at arm's 

length and compare it to other available investments, 
but instead did their best to accommodate local's 
needs, lending trustees and administrator did not 
perform their fiduciary duties for exclusive purpose 
of providing benefits to pension fund participants and 
their beneficiaries as required by Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act. Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 5 
404(a)(l)(A)(i), as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. fi 
1 lO4(a)(l)(A)(i). 

1111 Labor and Employment 231H -489 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 1 HVII(C) Fiduciaries and Trustees 
23 1 Hk487 Investments znd Expenditures 

23 1H1489 k. Prudent Person Standard. 
Most Cited Cases 

(Formerly 296k48,232Ak13 1.3 Labor Relations) 
Where lending trustees in making both original and 
supplemental loans failed to properly appraise 
proposed building for which loan was made to 
investigate borrower's financial resources, to evaluate 
likely rental income to be derived from building, to 
tnlr- ono,l-.nmnnt ..-,to tr, mm.:r- n..r,+;-~ r\n 1,"- 
b u r l &  Ga.,ua.,LiI~biLL -L L ' G i i L a ,  .- A u y u i L ' L  a L a & L L b u  .,A2 r.,Gli, 

or to require principal repayment schedule, lending 
trustees and pension administrator did not exercise 
prudence required by Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act. Employee Retirement Income Security 
Act of 1974, 5 404(a)(l)(B), as amended, 29 
U.S.C.A. 6 I 104(a)(l)(B). 

1121 Labor and Employment 231H -493 

23111 Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 1 HVTI(C) Fiduciaries and Trustees 
23 1H1~487 Investments and Expenditures 

23 1Hk493 k. Prohibited Transactions; 
Parties in Interest. Most Cited Cases 

(Formerly 296k48, 232Ak13 1.3 Labor Relations) 
In serving as trustees and administrator of pension 
hnd  while also serving as directors of corporation to 
which hnd  lent $1 million, directors and 
administrator violated section of Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act prohibiting fiduciary 
from engaging in transaction which he knows or 
should know constitutes loan with party in interest. 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 
5 406(b)(2), as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 6 1 106(b)(2). 
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Labor and Employment 231H -497 

23 Labor and Employment 
23 1 HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 1 HVII(C) Fiduciaries and Trustees 
23 1 Hk495 Persons Liable 

23 1Hk497 k. Co-Fiduciaries. Most 
Cited Cases 

(Formerly 296k49,232Ak13 1.3 Labor Relations) 
Where member of health and welfare benefit fund 
established under Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act failed to establish that either lending 
trustees or administrator of fund ever knew 
cofiduciary had committed breach of fiduciary duties 
in relationship to fund, neither administrator nor any 
tn~stees cou!d he fol~nd liable under section of Act 
which makes fiduciary liable if he participates 
knowingly in, or knowingly undertakes to conceal 
cofiduciary's breach or if he knows of cofiduciary's 
breach and fails to remedy it. Employee Retirement 
Income Security Act of 1974, Ij 405(a)(l, 3), as 
amended, 29 U.S.C.A. # 1 105(a)(1,3). 

1141 Labor and Employment 2 3 1 8  -490 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 1 HVII(C) Fiduciaries and Trustees 
23 1 Hk487 Investments and Expenditures 

23 1Hk490 k. Diversification. Most 
Cited Cases 

(Formerly 296k48,232Ak13 1.3 Labor Relations) 
Where only way current trustees could have 
diversified health and welfare benefits plan's 
investments would have been to divest plan of loan of 
over $1 million made to interested party, and plan 
would have suffered greater loss through such 
divestiture than by retaining loan and persuading 
debtor to make such repayments as were possible, 
trustees' failure to divest fund of loan did not violate 
section of Employee Retirement Income Security Act 
requiring trustees to act prudently. Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, $ 5  
404(a)(l)(C, D), 406(a)(l)(D), as amended, 29 
U.S.C.A. 5 4  1 104(a)(l)(C, D), 1 lO6(a)(l)(D); 
Va.Code 1950, 4  26-45.1. 

Labor and Employment 231H -493 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 lHV11 Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 lHVII(C) Fiduciaries and Trustees 
23 1Hk487 Investments and Expenditures 

23 1Hk493 k. Prohibited Transactions; 
Parties in Interest. Most Cited Cases 

(Formerly 296k48,232Ak13 1.3 Labor Relations) 
Failure of current trustees of health and welfare 
benefit fund established under Employee Retirement 
Income Security Act to raise interest rates on loans to 
party in interest and their waiver of penalties assessed 
for prior failure to make interest payments did not 
constitute "transfer of assets" within meaning of 
section which proscribes transfer of assets to party in 
interest. Employee Retirement Income Security Act 
of 1974, Ij 406(a)(l)(D), as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 8 
1 106(a)(l)(D). 

1161 Labor and Employment 231H -488 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 lHVII(C1 Fiduciaries and Trustees 
23 1 Hk487 Investments and Expenditares 

231Hk488 k. In General. Most Cited 
Cases 

(Formerly 296k49, 232Ak13 1.3 Labor Relations) 
Where trustees had no reason to suspect that 
interested party to whom it had made over $1 million 
loan was not making required interest payments, no 
basis under Employee Retirement Income Security 
Act existed for finding trustees liable for manner in 
which delinquent interest built up. Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, Ij 2 et seq., 
as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. # 1001 et seq. 

1171 Labor and Employment 231H -461 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 IHVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 lHVII(C1 Fiduciaries and Trustees 
23 1Hk460 Who Are Fiduciaries 

231Hk461 k. In General. Most Cited 
Cases 

(Formerly 296k44,232Ak13 1.3 Labor Relations) 
Administrator of health and welfare fund established 
under Employee Retirement Income Security Act 
was fiduciary within meaning of Act, where 
administrator exercised discretion in such functions 
as receiving and recording loan repayments and 
reporting to trustees of plan any difficulties which 
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arose therefrom. Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act of 1974, $4  3(21), 404(a)(l)(B), as 
amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 46  1002(21), 1104(a)(l )(BI. 

1181 Labor and Employment 231H -489 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 lHVII(C) Fiduciaries and Trustees 
23 1 Hk487 Investments and Expenditures 

23 1 Hk489 k. Prudent Person Standard. 
Most Cited Cases 

(Formerly 296k43.1, 296k43, 232Ak131.3 Labor 
Relations) 
Where interested party to whom fund established 
under Employee Retirement Income Security Act had 
made lorn co=p!etely failed to make interest 
payments and administrator did not inform trustees of 
such failure, administrator permitted delinquencies to 
build up over much longer period of time and to 
much greater level than prudent person in his position 
would have had and therefore breached his fiduciary 
duties within meaning of Act. Employee Retirement 
Income Security Act of 1974, $ 5  3(21): 404(a)(l)(B), 
as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 6 4  1002(21). 
1 1 0 q a v 1 \ c ~ j ,  

L 

Labor and Employment 231H -651 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVIT Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 ! HV!!(K) Actions 
23 lHVII(Ki3 Actions to Enforce Statutory 

or Fiduciary Duties 
231Hk651 k. Standard and Scope of 

Review. Most Cited Cases 
(Formerly 296k84, 255k78.1(7) Master and 

Servant) 

Labor and Employment 231H -687 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1 HV!! Pension and Benef3 Plans 

77 1 HVII(I(1 Actions -- 
23 lHVII(I05 Actions to Recover Benefits 

231Hlt684 Standard and Scope of 
Review 

231Hk687 k. Arbitrary and 
Capricious. Most Cited Cases 

(Formerly 296k84, 255k78.1(7) Master and 

Servant) 
Standard of review which states that court is not to 
overturn decisions of trustees of funds set up under 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act unless it 
finds that decisions have been arbitrary or capricious 
applies only to reviews of determinations as to 
eligibility for benefits and not to review of 
ficlucilries' performance of their d~t ies .  Esployee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, $ 404, as 
amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 4 1 104. 

J2OJ Labor and Employment 231H -493 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 lHVII(C) Fiduciaries and Trustees 
7 1  1 HlfA87 Investments and Expenditures -4 A AA.. . 

23 1 Hk493 k. Prohibited Transactions; 
Parties in Interest. Most Cited Cases 

(Formerly 296k48,232Ak13 1.3 Labor Relations) 
Original loan made to party in interest was not 
exempt from prohibited transaction coverage by 
section of Employee Retirement Income Security Act 
which provided that such transaction would be 
exempt if binding contract was in effect on July 1, 
1374, \;ihzre, 2s of th2t date, a!! :hat paeies had 
agreed to do was negotiate concerning loan. 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 
$ 5  406,414(c)(l), as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. LC: 1106, 
11 14(c)(l). 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 IHVTI Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 lHVII(C) Fiduciaries and Trustees 
23 1 H1~487 Investments and Expenditures 

23 1Hk492 k. Advisors and  Experts. 
Most Cited Cases 

(Formerly 296k49,232Ak13 1.3 Labor Relations) 
Reliance by trustees and administrator of health and 
welfare benefit fund established under Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act on advice of counsel 
that loan to interest party would not violate federal 
law was simply one of factors relevant to determining 
whether they acted with prudence in advancing loan 
and did not constitute complete defense to h n d  
member's action alleging breach of fiduciary duty for 
failure to act in prudent manner. Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, $ 404, as 
amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 6 1104. 
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1221 Labor and Employment 231H -496 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 1 HVII(C;! Fiduciaries and Trustees 
23 1Hk495 Persons Liable 

23 1Hk496 k. In General. Most Cited 
Cases 

(Formerly 296k49,232Ak13 1.3 Labor Relations) 
Trustees and administrator of health and welfare fund 
established under Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act were jointly and severally liable for 
losses plan suffered due to their breach of fiduciary 
duty. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 
1974, 5 409(a), as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 6 1109(a). 

1231 Labor and Employment 231H -662 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 lHVII(K) Actions 
23 1 HVII(K)3 Actions to Enforce Statutory 

or Fiduciary Duties 
23 1 Hk658 Judgment and Reiief 

231Hlt662 k. Damages. Most Cited 
Cases 

(Formerly 296k87, 232Ak13 1.3 Labor Relations) 
Difference between value of health and welfare fund 
established under Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act and value that prudent investment would 
bear -,.-.-,.-,.- '-,. ---- - 1Gp1G3G11LGd dalllage fund suffered &ie to breach 
of fiduciary duties of trustee and administrator for 
which they were jointly and severally liable. 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 
5 409(a), as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 6 1109(a). 

;23j Labor and Empioymeiii 23:P-T -715 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 1 HVII(I0 Actions 
23 1 HVII(K)7 Costs and Attorney Fees 

7 1  1 Hk7 13 plfli~i&g Cases - - > - 
23 1Hk7 15 k. Actions to Enforce 

Statutory or Fiduciary Duties. Most Cited Cases 
(Formerly 296k88, 232Ak13 1.3 Labor P.e!ations) 

Labor and Employment 231H -720 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 lHVII(K1 Actions 
23 1HVII(K)7 Costs and Attorney Fees 

23 1 Hk7 19 Amount 
231Hk720 k. In General. Most Cited 

Cases 
(Fermerly 290k88,232Ak13 ! .3 Laber Relatiens) 

Where member of health and welfare fund 
established under Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act successfully demonstrated that lending 
trustees and administrator of fund were culpable in 
causing significant loss to fund, member sought to 
benefit fund as whole, and member was entitled to 
prevail on merits, member was entitled to recover 
reasonable attorney fees fi-om lending trustees and 
administrator; however, member was not entitled to 
recover counsel fees for any duplicate work 
performed by various teams of lawyers or for work 
performed in pursuit of its unsuccessful claims. 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 

502(g), as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 6 1132(a). 

J2SJ Labor and Employment 231H -715 

7 2  1 U T ,L,, ,,,! F+..,l,.-,,+ 
i.2 iii L'iVcii ulr- -iiiijiijyiiii.iii - 

23 1HVIl Pension and Benefit Plans 
23 lHVII(K) Actions 

23 lHVII(K)7 Costs and Attorney Fees 
23 1Hk7 13 Particular Cases 

23 1 Hk7 15 k. Actions to Enforce 
Statutory or Fiduciary Duties. Most Cited Cases 

(Formerly 296k88, 232Ak13 1.3 Labor Relations) 
Where current trustees did not so much prevail as 
elude liability in connection with health and welfare 
fund member's unsuccessful claim against them for 
breach of fiduciary duties, and failed to establish 
right to any relief and conferred no benefit upon 
pension fund in their cross claim against prior 
trustees who lent over $1 million to interested party, 
current trustees would not be awarded counsel fees. 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 
5 502(g), as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 4 1132(d. 

"228 William I<. Poiiard, C. Aiien Riggins, Par~er ,  
Pollard & Brown, Richmond, Va., Richard J. Clair, 
Nat. Right to Work Legal Defense Foundation, Inc., 
Springfield, Va., for plaintiff. 
"229 Robert E. Paul, Paul & Thompson, Arlington, 
Va., Gerald M. Feder, Timothy St. C. Smith, Feder & 
Edes, Washington, D.C., for defendants Wilson, 
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Jernigan, Parker, Singer and Gifford. 
Archibald Wallace, G. Edgar Dawson, Richmond, 
Va., for Shirley A. Zahn. 
Jay J. Levit, Levit & Mann, Richmond, Va., for John 
L. Cook, et al. 
Louis A. Mezzullo, James F. Stutts, Jack W. Burtch, 
Jr., McSweeney, Stutts & Burtch, Richmond, Va., for 
Joseph Acczrdi 2nd Reginald E. Baker. 
Anthony F. Troy, John M. Gray, Mays, Valentine, 
Davenport & Moore, Richmond, Va., for Mark I. 
Singer. 
Hullihen W. Moore and James W. Tredway, 111, 
Christian, Barton, Epps, Brent & Chappell, 
Richmond, Va., for Joseph R. Jernigan and Charles P. 
Wilson. 
Francis T. Eck, Hooker & Eck, Richmond, Va., for 
Robert N. Parker 111. 
John G. Conlan, Wells, Axselle, Hundley & Johnson, 
Roy M. Teny, Jr., Richmond, Va., for William Frank 
Gifford, Sr. 
Joseph C. Kearfott, Hunton & Williams, Richmond, 
Va., for non-parties re: Subpoenaes Duces Tecum. 
Thomas M. Hogan, Mahoney, Hogan, Heffler & 
Heald, McLean, Va., for third party defendants. 
Gregory S. Hooe, Cohen, Abeloff & Staples, 
Richmond, Va., for John A. Koch. 

MEMORANDUM 

MERHIGE, District Judge. 
Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to the 

Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 
("ERISA"), Pub.L. No. 93-406, 88 Stat. 829 (codified 
as amended in 5 U.S.C. 6 5 108(f), scattered sections 
of 26 U.S.C., and 29 U.S.C. 8 1001 ef seq.). 
Jurisdiction is conferred upon the Court by ERISA 
502(e), (f) ,  29 U.S.C. 8 1132(e), Ifl. Following 
massive discovery and seemingly infinite motions, 
some of which were necessary, the parties stipuiated 
to the pertinent facts and argued the case to the 
Court. Several hundred pages of briefing later, the 
matter is ripe for decision. This memorandum 
constitutes the Court's findings of fact and 
conchisions of law for puposes of Ted.X.Civ.P. 
52!a). 

FNI. The stipulations do not apply to the 
third-party action and do not extend to the 
relevance of any fact or document included. 

Plaintiff is a participant in the Local 666 Benefit 

Trust Fund ("the Fund"), which provides health and 
welfare benefits to certain electrical workers and their 
families; he brings this action "as a participant in, and 
for and on behalf of," the Fund. Plaintiff is a former 
member of Local Union 666, International 
Brotherhood of Electrical Workers of Richmond, 
Virginia, AFL-CIO ("the Local"), one of the parties 
that est&Iished the Fund in 1 9 6 e . ~  The Fund is an 
"employee welfare benefit plan" and an "employee 
benefit plan" within the meaning of ERISA ji 3(1), 
(3), 29 U.S.C. 6 1002(11, a, and accordingly is 
covered by ERISA's provisions as to fiduciary 
responsibility and as to reporting and disclosure. 
Defendants Accardi, Baker, Cook, Koch, Nash, and 
Van Fossen were Trustees of the Fund from at 
least 1974 until at least June of 1976. Because of 
their initial involvement with a loan that is the subject 
of this action, they are hereinafter referred to as the 
"lending Trustees." Defendants Gifford, Jernigan, 
Parker, Singer, and Wilson are the current 
~ r u s t e e s . ~  Defendants Bowles and Noonan served 
as Tmstees following the terms of two lending 
Trustees, but are no longer Trustees. All of these 
defendants have been named "personally and as 
Trustees and former Trustees" of 2 3 0  the ~ u n d . ~  
Defendant Shirley A. Zahn is the administratrix of 
the estate of Willie M. Zahn, who served as 
administrator of the Fund from some time before its 
official inception in 1968 until 1980. For 
convenience and simplicity, the Court hereinafter 
refers to Willie M. Zahn as if he were the named 
defendant. 

FN2. The other party to the agreement 
establishing the Fund is the Capitol 
Division, Virginia Chapter, National 
Electrical Contractors Association 
("NECA"). The Fund covers the employees 
of NECA contractors. NECA appoiiiis thee 
Trustees, and the Local appoints the other 
three. 

FN3. Defendant Van Fossen ceased to serve 
as a Tmstee in August 1976, ihen served 
again as Tn~stee horn June 1481 unti! 
October 198 1. 

FN4. One of the six Trustee positions is 
currently vacant. 

FN_5. At no time has any party suggested 
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any theory under which any Trustee could 
be liable for any actions other than those 
taken in his capacity as Trustee. 
Nonetheless, the majority of the Trustee 
defendants have employed separate counsel 
to represent them in their individual 
capacities. These attorneys have merely 
hrther developed the defenses available te 
the defendants as Trustees. Of course, 
parties are free to hire as much legal 
representation as they deem appropriate, but 
they may, as in the instant case, anticipate 
problems if they subsequently seek to have 
the opposing parties pay for such 
representation. 

I. Factual Backgr.ound 

In 1971, the Local set up a Building Committee 
to investigate purchasing land and constructing a 
building thereon to serve as headquarters for the 
Local. Pursuant to official policy of the International 
Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, the Local 
incorporated a subsidiary to hold title to the property 
and building; the Local intended to insulate itself 
from responsibility fc~.=r the building c=~=rati=n's 
debts. Thus, on September 22, 1972, Richmond 
Electricians Building Corporation ("REBCOR), 
wholly owned by the Local, was chartered under the 
laws of Virginia. The President, Vice President, 
Treasurer, and Recording Secretary of the Local hold 
corresponding offices in REBCOR; together with 
three individuals elected at large by the Local, they 
constitute REBCOR's Board of Directors. 

In March 1973, REBCOR agreed to, and 
subsequently did, purchase a parcel of land at 1701 
East Parham Road, Richmond, Virginia, for 
$137,500. Some time during the spring of 1974, Zahn 
and the president of REBCOR inquired about a 
construction loan £rom a commercial lender, but did 
not receive one. On May 23, 1974, the president of 
REBCOR executed a $1,757,500 contract for the 
construction of the KEBCOK buiiding on the Parham 
Road pi-opei?y-. By- Aiigiist 1974, consti-uc~ioii had 

begun. 

As early as November 2, 1972, the Trustees had 
discussed lending money to REBCOR on a first 
mortgage note and had agreed to negotiate with 
REBCOR in that regard. The minutes of the Loca!'s 

meeting of February 1, 1974 show that Zahn reported 
that the cost of building was rising and, contrary to 
earlier reports, there was anticipated to be enough 
rental space to support the building "but not to pay 
the mortgage. Hopefully the Benefit Trust Fund will 
lend us the money." On June 7, 1974, a non-quorum 
group of the Trustees adopted a motion to 
negotiate the financing subject te the fdbwing 
conditions: 

FN6. The Declaration of Trust required at 
least two Trustees appointed by the Local 
and two appointed by NECA to be present to 
constitute a quorum at a Trustees' meeting. 
Only one Trustee appointed by NECA was 
present at the June 7, 1974 meeting, along 
with Zahn and the three Trustees appointed 
by the Local. 

Our attorney should draw up the loan document 
on a first-mortgage basis, and when this is complete a 
committee of three, namely the administrator, the 
chairman, and the secretary of the Tmst Fund meet 
with the attorney to review the loan document in 
order that a complete understanding may be had of its 
t e ~ ~ s  and c=nditicJns. 'ALfter this is done, if the lo22 
meets the approval of the committee of three, the 
entire trustees at a meeting would be presented copies 
for their final approval. 

The Local held a membership meeting that night 
and announced that the Trustees had agreed to 
negotiate with REBCOR as to a loan. 

As per the June 7, 1974 motion, the committee 
of three sought legal counsel as to the propriety of 
making the 1 0 a n . ~  At the "231 Trustees' meeting on 
December 13, 1974, chairman Accardi reported that 
according to their legal counsel, making the loan 
"was not contrary to the Pension Reform Act." All 
six Trustees (Accardi, Baker, Cook, Koch, Nash, and 
Van Fossen) then voted to lend REBCOR one million 
dollars at 10% annual interest, the interest to be paid 
monthly, and to consider lending further funds later if 
they were needed. At the same meeting, the Trustees 

a repofi showing that tiie F-uiid's total casli 

assets were $1,479,738.29. At that time, Fund 
administrator Zahn and Trustees Nash and Van 
Fossen were also directors of REBCOR. 

FN7. Zahn received the following letter 
dated October 31, 1974 fro= the Fund's 
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legal counsel: 
Dear Mr. Zahn: 
This is in further response to your inquiry 

regarding the proposed loan from the trust to the 
Richmond Electrician's Building Corporation, a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the local. You indicate 
that as evidenced by minutes of the trustees of the 
trust, the tntst had comqitted to make the 10'11 before 
July 1, 1974, which cornrnittment had been relied on 
by Richmond Electrician's Building Corporation and 
by the local in its construction of the building. 

Section 414(c)(l) of the Employee Retirement 
Income Security Act of 1974, relating to the effective 
date of the new prohibited transaction rules, provides 
as follows: 

.... 
While there are no regulations or other 

administrative interpretations under the above quoted 
provision, the phrase "binding contract" may be 
interpreted to include a situation such as that existing 
as the result of the action of the trustees of the trust 
before July 1, 1974, in reliance on which action has 
been taken by the Richmond Electrician's Building 
Corporation. If this interpretation is finally adopted, 
then the making of the loan would not constitute a 
prohi'oited transaction under the new rules until June 
30, 1984, provided the other requirements of Section 
414(c)(l) of the Act are met. 

It should be noted that Section 414(c)(l) requires 
that the transaction not violate the prohibited 
transaction rules of existing law (Section 503(b) of 
the Internal Revenue Code of 1954) as well as that 
the 6-,.--,. --- ~ la l l s a~ i i~ i i  must be on tenis as favorable as an 
am's-length transaction. For your guidance in 
structuring the transaction, I am enclosing a copy of 
Section 503(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954. 
However, I am not sure that Section 503(b) of the 
Code adds anything to the arms-length requirement . . 
and ~t m~ght be argued that the corporation is not so 
related to the trust as to give rise to the application of 
Section 503(b). 

With best regards, .... 

On January 23, 1975, the president of RFRCOR 
executed a Deed of Trust on the property and a Deed 
of Trust note for $1,000,000. The note provided that 
interest at 10% per annum was to be paid monthly 
beginning March 1, 1975. The Deed of Trust 
reflected the parties' intention that the interest rate be 
adjusted from time to time, though it provided no 
mechanism for doing so. In the event of a late interest 
payment, REBCOR was to pay a penalty of 5% of the 

payment. The principal was due on demand, and in 
any event was to be paid by June 30,1984. 

At the August 25, 1975 Trustees' meeting, it was 
concluded that REBCOR needed to borrow 
approximately $400,000 more to complete 
construction of the building. The five Trustees 
present (Baker was unable to attend) voted to 
increase the loan to $1,400,000. At this meeting, the 
Trustees received a report indicating the Fund's total 
cash assets were $1,467,133.33. As of this time, 
REBCOR had made only two of the seven interest 
payments that had come due; it owed over $10,000 in 
interest and penalties. There is nothing to warrant a 
conclusion that the Trustees knew of these 
delinquencies, although administrator Zahn, who had 
responsibility for recording the interest payments, 
obviously knew. 

On October 20, 1975, REBCOR officers 
executed a Supplemental Deed of Trust and a 
Supplemental Deed of Trust note. The note increased 
the indebtedness to $1,500,000, rather than the 
$1,400,000 agreed to at the August 24, 1975 Trustees' 
meeting. The note did not require REBCOR to 
rpimh~rsp tE;p F?~nd f - 3 ~  the interest en my bonovjipn '6 

the Fund might have to undertake as a result of 
having so much of its assets tied up in the REBCOR 
loan; at the August 24, 1975 Trustees' meeting, the 
Trustees had made the loan increase conditional on 
that requirement being imposed on REBCOR. 
Through March 1976, a total of at least 
$1,411,075.25 was disbursed under the loan, as 
supplemented. 

REBCOR made no further interest payments 
from October 1975 through December 1976. On 
January 17, 1977, the Trustees held a meeting at 
which they learned that the interest payments were 
delinquent, and they directed Zahn to provide them 
an "232 up-to-date accounting of the loan status. By 
that time, REBCOR had accrued at least $15 1,937.09 
in interest and $9,227.39 in penalties. There followed 
various correspondence among the Trustees and 
Zabxi, iiieeiings, an appraisai of the property, and, on 
February 28, 1977, a meeting of the Trustees and 
the president of REBCOR. At that meeting, the 
REBCOR president proposed a solution to the 
delinquency problem. Further discussions, 
correspondence, and meetings ensued, and at their 
June 16, 1977 meeting, the Trustees agreed to the 
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following "cure": $86,196.81 of the unpaid interest 
was converted to principal, to make the total principal 
$1,500,000, as authorized by the Supplemental Deed 
of Trust note; the remaining $42,266.39 in unpaid 
interest was due; collection of the $7,874.72 in 
penalties was postponed for three years and would be 
waived altogether if the interest payments were kept 
current throughout that period. 

FN8. By this time, defendant Bowles had 
replaced defendant Cook as Trustee; 
Noonan had replaced Nash; Jernigan had 
replaced Van Fossen; Wilson had replaced 
Koch; and Baker had resigned as Trustee, 
but had not been replaced. 

In June 1980, the Tmstees waived the !ate 
payment penalties, finding that REBCOR had kept up 
its interest payments over the three years since the 
c ~ r e . ~  In the time since the cure, the building has 
again been appraised. Some negotiations have taken 
place concerning the possible sale of the building, but 
it has not been sold. Though requested to do so, 
REBCOR has never provided a schedule for the 
repayment of the loan principal; REBCOR has, 
ho~.vexierj m ~ d e  2 tot,! of $2QQ,Q0Q 2 pryments en 
the $1,500,000 principal. 

FN9. Plaintiff disputes that the payments 
were in fact timely made. Defendants 
contend that at least some of the payments 
appear on the books to have been late only 
because Zahn was late in recording them. 
Plaintiff has not satisfied the Court by a 
preponderance of the evidence that 
REBCOR violated the terms of the cure in 
such a way that the Trustees should not have 
waived the penalties. 

11. Allegations 

It is not surprising that the contentions in 
plaintiffs trial brief do not perfectly correspond to 
those he had set forth in his complaint 15 months and 
many reams of pleadings earlier. Thus, plaintiff has 
moved pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 15(b) to amend the 
pleadings to conform to the evidence. The Court 
assumes that the contentions set forth in the trial brief 
are those plaintiff avers he has proved. 

A. Fiduciary duties: ERISA $404, 2 9 U. S. C. 6 11 04. 

Under 29 U.S.C. 4 1 lO4(a)(l)(A)(il, a 
fiduciary is required to discharge his duties for the 
exclusive purpose of providing benefits to 
participants and their beneficiaries. Plaintiff alleges 
each of the Trustees and Zahn violated this provision 
by providing a "sweetheart" loan to REBCOR and 
the Local, following their wishes rather than acting in 
the interest of the participants and beneficiaries. 

Plaintiff alleges each of the Trustees and Zahn 
violated 29 U.S.C. 4 1 104(a)(l)(B), which requires a 
fiduciary to discharge his duties in the same manner 
as a "prudent man acting in a like capacity and 
familiar with such matters" would act. Plaintiff 
alleges that the lending Trustees and Zahn failed to 
investigate RFRCOR and the proposed building and 
failed to require assurances of payment as a prudent 
real estate lender would have done with regard to the 
original $1 million loan and the later supplemental 
loan of up to $500,000. He alleges that Zahn and the 
Trustees in office at the time of the cure r"'O similarly 
failed to get proper documentation and guarantees. 
And he alleges that Zahn and the current Trustees 
have continued to violate this provision by failing ro . . iccrease the icterest rate, sbtsiz pr:r,c:pa! 
repayment schedule, seek sureties for the loan, etc. 

FNIO. By the June 16, 1977 meeting at 
which the Trustees agreed to the cure, 
defendant Parker had taken the Trustee 
position defendant Baker had vacated, so the 
Board consisted of Accardi, Bowles, 
Jernigan, Noonan, Parker, and Wilson. 

1121 Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 4 1104(a)(l)(C), the 
fiduciaries must diversify the plan's investments 
"unless under the "233 circumstances it is clearly 
prudent not to do so." The original loan committed 
over 67% of the Fund's assets to the REBCOR loan, 
and the supplemental loan and cure brought the level 
to something on the order of 95%. Plaintiff seeks to 
hold liable Zahn and the Trustees in office as of each 
of these times. 

The final allegations with respect to fiduciary 
duties flow from 29 U.S.C. 4 1 lO4(a)(l)(D), which 
requires fiduciaries to discharge their duties in 
accordance with the documents and instruments 
governing the plan. The Declaration of Trust for the 
instant Fund requires the Trustees to invest "in 
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accordance with the Prudent Man Statute of the State 
of Virginia (new Virginia Code Section 26-45.1)." 
The plaintiff alleges that the original loan, the 
supplemental loan, and the cure violated this 
fiduciary standard, as well as that directly set forth in 
ERISA, by concentrating the Fund's assets in one 
investment. 

B. Liability for breach of co-jduciavy: ERISA j 405, 
29 U.S.C. 6 1105. 

111 Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 4 1105(a)(l), a 
fiduciary is liable for a co-fiduciary's breach of 
fiduciary duties if he knowingly participates in or 
conceals such a breach. Plaintiff alleges that 
throughout the history of the loans, the fiduciaries 
have engaged in s l~rh c,oncea!ment. T h i  al!egation 
rests largely on the Trustees' failure to take action 

. against Zahn once they learned that he had allowed 
the interest payments to become delinquent. 

Similarly, 29 U.S.C. 4 1105(a)(3) requires a 
fiduciary to make reasonable efforts to remedy any 
known breach by a co-fiduciary. Plaintiff contends 
that the fiduciaries had the responsibility to learn of . . 
any breaches aiid thcii, puiwaiit b this 'i'iie 
duty to remedy them. Plaintiff seeks to attach liability 
under this section to each of the fiduciaries. 

C.  Prohibited transactions: ERISA j 406, 29 U.S.C. 3 
1106. 

Plaintiff alleges that the original loan, 
supplemental loan, and cure all violated 29 U.S.C. 4 
1106(a)(l)(B), which forbids a fiduciary to cause the 
fund to engage in a transaction which he knows or 
should know constitutes a loan with a party in 
interest. There is apparent!y no dispute that PZBCOR 
constituted a "party in interest" within the meaning of 
ERISA jj 3(14), 29 U.S.C. 4 1002(14). 

As a related matter, 29 U.S.C. 8 1106(a)(l)(D) 
forbids a fidl~ciary to cause the fwd to transfer assets 
to a party in interest. Plaintiff contends that the 1980 
waiver of late payment penalties pursuant to the 1977 
cure constituted such a transfer of assets; he seeks to 
hold the 1977 Trustees, the 1980 Trustees, and Zahn 
liable under this provision. Plaintiff also seeks to hold 
the current Trustees and Bowles liable under this 
section for failing to adjust the interest rate on the 
loans. 

Finally, plaintiff alleges violations of 29 U.S.C. 
4 1106(b)(2), which prohibits a fiduciary from acting 
on behalf of a party whose interests are adverse to 
those of the plan, in a transaction involving the plan. 
Plaintiff alleges that lending Trustees Nash and Van 
Fossen and administrator Zahn violated this 
subsection in traiisaciiiig the original loan and the 
supplemental loan because all of them were also on 
the REBCOR board of directors at the time. Plaintiff 
also alleges a conflict of interest in the cure: Trustees 
Bowles and Noonan were also REBCOR directors at 
the time, and Trustee Jernigan was on the Local's 
executive board. 

D. Current Trusteesr cross-claim. 

The current Trustees' cross-claim against the 
lending Trustees is based largely on the same 
allegations plaintiff makes. Thus, the current Trustees 
allege that the lending Trustees breached their 
fiduciary duties set forth in 29 U.S.C. 6 
1104(a)(l)(A), (B); and (C) by failing to exercise the 
required prudence and failing to diversify the 
investments. They allege that Zahn acted on heha!f of 
iiii adveI-sc iii viiiiaiivn o[ 29 - u . 3 . ~ .  - 9 " 

1106(b)(2). Further, they allege that each cross-claim 
defendant violated 29 U.S.C. 4 1105(a)(2) by 
allowing fellow fiduciaries to commit breaches. 

"234 111. Statute of Limitations 

The lending Trustees contend that all claims 
against them are barred by ERISA # 413, 29 U.S.C. $ 
u , ~  the statute of limitations. Under that 
section, the basic limitation period of six years runs 
from the date of the breach or violation, except in 
case of fraud or concea!me?lt, when it runs fi-om the 
date of discovery of the breach or violation. If there is 
no fraud or concealment, the six-year period can be 
reduced to three years if the defendant can show the 
plaintiff had either actual or constructive knowledge 
of the breach or violation; the three-year period runs 
from the time the plaintiff gained such knowledge. 
The kind of constructive knowledge that can reduce 
the period is that supplied by a report, filed with the 
Secretary of Labor, from which the plaintiff "could 
reasonably be expected to have obtained knowledge 
of such breach or violation." 

FN 1 1.4 i i 13. Limitation of actions 
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(a) No action may be commenced under this 
subchapter with respect to a fiduciary's breach of any 
responsibility, duty, or obligation under this part, or 
with respect to a violation of this part, after the earlier 
0 f- 

(1) six years after (A) the date of the last action 
which constituted a part of the breach or violation, or 
(E) in the case of an omission, the !atest date on 
which the fiduciary could have cured the breach or 
violation, or 

(2) three years after the earliest date (A) on 
which the plaintiff had actual knowledge of the 
breach or violation, or (B) on which a report from 
which he could reasonably be expected to have 
obtained knowledge of such breach or violation was 
filed with the Secretary under this subchapter; 

except that in the case of fraud or concealment, 
such action may be commenced not later than six 
years after the date of discovery of such breach or 
violation. 

The defendants seek to take plaintiff at his word 
when he asserts, "The time is long overdue that these 
violations should be corrected." 

i4J The basic six-year period runs from the date 
of the "last action which constituted part of the 
breach or violation." With regard to the allegations 
involving the original loan and the supplemental 
loan, the last action was the last disbursement of 
funds pursuant to the loans, in March 1976. Plaintiffs 
action filed October 19, 1981 clearly is not barred by 
the basic six-year limitation provision. 

j2J Nearly all of the current Trustees' cross-claim 
filed November 4, 1982 equally clearly is barred by 
the six-year provision. The cross-claim is based 
almost entirely on the granting of the original loan 
and the supplemental loan. To the extent the cross- 
claim concerns the administration of the loans after 
November 4, 1 9 7 6 , ~  it is not barred by the six-year 
provision. The remainder of the cross-claim, 
however, will be d i s m i s ~ e d . ~  

FNi2. Tne cross-claim allegations 
concerning administration of the ioans 
involve acts and omissions through January 
17, 1977, when Zahn first told the Trustees 
of the delinquent inieresi. 

FNi3. The Court finds no merit in the 
current Tmstees' arguments for equitable 

tolling of the six-year period. The current 
Trustees attempt to apply the date of the 
original complaint to toll the statute of 
limitations, as in An?el.ican Pipe & 
Consti~znctzon Co. v. Utah, 414 U.S. 538, 94 
S.Ct. 756, 38 L.Ed.2d 713 (1974h where 
members of a class were able to apply the 
date or? which the named p!zintiff first filed 
for class certification. If the current Trustees' 
theory were adopted, the statute of 
limitations would never bar a cross-claim 
where the original complaint was timely 
filed, since a cross-claim must arise from the 
same transaction or occurrence, 
seeFed.R.Civ.P. 13(g). The instant cross- 
claim does not present the kind of equitable 
considerations that justified tolling the 
limitation period in American Pipe. Nothing 
in Crown, Cork & Seal Co. v. Parker, 462 
U.S. 345, 103 S . 0 .  2392, 75 L.Ed.2d ---- 
(U.S.19831, changes the Court's conclusion 
as to this issue. 

On the other hand, the cross-claim defendants 
have not established actual or constructive 
knowledge on the part of the current Ti-dstees so as to 
reduce the limitations period to three years. See note 
14 infra and accompanying text. 

The lending Trustees seek to reduce the 
limitation period to three years by showing both 
actual and constructive knowledge on the part of the 
plaintiff. In an effort to come under the constructive 
knowiedge provision of ENSA # 413(a)(Z)(B), see 
note 11 supra and accompanying text, the lending 
Trustees rely on the Form 5500 for calendar year 
1976 which the Fund filed with the Department of 
Labor in August 1977. That "235 form disclosed that 
the Fund held a party-in-interest investment in a 
norigage which had increased from $1,078,53 1 to 
$1,413,803 during 1976, that the Fund held a loan 
which was in default or classified as uncollectable as 
of the end of the year, and that the Fund had engaged 
in a transaction or series of transactions involving 

FN14 over 3% of the F-cnd's assets.-- Attached to the 
Form was a schedule which provided certain 
information about the loan and which incorporated 
the attached Deed of Trust note and letter setting 
forth the cure. 

FN14. It is not clear to the Court what 
transaction was being reported here. The 
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preparer of the Form 5500 evidently did not 
consider the 1976 disbursements under the 
loan to constitute a "transaction," since the 
Form indicates the Fund was not involved in 
any "transactions7' with a party in interest in 
1976. If the Fund filed a schedule with 
respect to this transaction, as the instructions 
for this Item 24(a)(v) specif;., it was not 
included in the copy of the filings submitted 
to the Court as Exhibit 5B. 

With regard to constructive knowledge 
applicable to the cross-claim, the Court notes that 
while the Form disclosed that the loan had become 
delinquent, it did not disclose the manner in which it 
had been allowed to become so. The Form thus did 
not provide constructive knowledge of the alleged 
breach of fiduciary duty inherent in allowing the 
delinquency to accrue in the manner it did. 

The plaintiff contends that this filing does not 
satisfy ERISA 5 413(a)(2)(B) because the attached 
schedule is misleading as to the value of the collateral 
for the loan. The schedule states that the value of the 
collateral based on the actual cost of the land and 
improvements was $1,933,383. Piaintiff argues that 
at the time the Trustees filed the Form. they knew the 
appraised fair market value of the property was no 
more than $960,000, and that their failure to disclose 
this valuation of the collateral renders the filing 
ineffective for purposes of the statute of limitations 
defense. 

Plaintiff offers no authority for this position. 
Even if the filing could be considered misleading in 
reporting the actual cost rather than the appraised 
value of the collateral, it does not follow that the 
Form cannot provide constructive knowledge as to 
any of the violations. The Court concludes that in 
providing the actuai cost rather than the appraised 
value of the collateral, the Trustees simply deprived 
themselves of the defense they might have 
established if they had, inter alia, disclosed that the 
loan was under-collateralized: that information might 
have helped to provide constriictive kiiow:ebge of the 
breach of the dcty to invest p~~dent!y imposed hy  
ERISA 5 404(a)(l)(B). 29 U.S.C. 6 1104(a)(l)(B). 

J6J The Coilri concludes that the Form 5500 filed 
in August 1977, with the attached schedule and 
copies of the note and cure letter, is adequate to 
trigger the three-year statute of limitations as of that 

date concerning the violations the filing actually 
disclosed: failure to diversify investments, 29 U.S.C. 
4 1104(a)(l)(C); failure to follow the plan 
documents, 29 U.S.C. 6 1104(a)(l)(D); engaging in a 
party-in-interest transaction, 29 U.S.C. 5 
1106(a)(l)(B); and transfer of assets to a party in 
interest, F"529 U.S.C. 6 1106(a)(l)(D). The 
allegations that the original loan, supp!ementa! loan 
andlor cure violated these provisions are time-barred, 
and they will be dismissed. The Form does not, 
however, adequately disclose the remaining alleged 
violations. 

FN15. The allegation that the 1977 
agreement to waive late penalties constituted 
a transfer of assets to a party in interest is 
the only allegation under 29 U.S.C. 6 
1106(a)(l)(D) that is time-barred; the 
allegation concerning the actual waiver of 
penalties in 1980 remains to be considered. 

121 The lending Trustees also assert that they 
have established plaintiff had actual knowledge of the 
allegec! vio!ations more than three years before he 
filed suit, so that his claims are barred by ERISA 5 
4 1 3 (a)(2)(.4_), The &fec&cts p=igt tto pl~igeffs  
contacts with the Department of Labor, his 
attendance at meetings, documents he received, and 
admissions he has made. To the extent this evidence 
tends to show plaintiffs actual knowledge, such 
knowledge mostly relates to allegations the Court has 
already found to be time-barred because of the Form 
5500 filing, such as the *236 allegation of failure to 
diversify. Plaintiff admitted in his deposition, 
however, that as of the time he wrote a letter dated 
May 31, 1977, he knew that Trustees Noonan and 
Bowles were at that time also directors of 
R E B C O R . ~  The Court is satisfied that plaintiff had 

F N l 1  . 
actuai knowiedge of this conflict of interest -" in 
violation of 29 U.S.C. 4 1106(b)(2) more than three 
years before he filed this action, and this allegation is 
also time-barred. Wesley v. Inter~national Hawester 
Co., No. 2-C 78-4040, slip op. at 9 (W.D.Iowa Oct. 9, 
1980). 

FN16. Exhibit 921, at 333-34. 

b"N 17. Plaintiffs admission concerning two 
of the 1977 Trustees did not indicate he 
knew that Nash, Van Fossen, and Zahn had 
had a similar conflict of interest at the time 
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the loans were approved. The allegations 
concerning these defendants remain to be 
considered. He also did not indicate he was 
aware Trustee Jernigan was in 1977 also a 
member of the Local's executive board. The 
plaintiff has not satisfied the Court, 
however, that Jernigan was laboring under a 
conflict of interest with respect to the loan 
administration; he has not shown that the 
executive board was sufficiently involved 
with the loan for Jernigan's membership on 
it to cause a violation of ERISA 3 406(b)(2), 
29 U.S.C. # 1106(b)(2). 

Plaintiff also admitted in his deposition 
that he knew the appraised value of the property in 
1 9 7 7 . ~  He did not, however, recall whether at that 
time he also knew the principal amount of the loan. 
Thus, it is not clear whether he knew the loan was 
under-collateralized. And even if he was aware of 
that fact, under-collateralization of a loan does not, 
by itself, establish a breach of the fiduciary duty to 
invest prudently. The defendants have not established 
plaintiff had actual knowledge of the alleged breach 
of ERISA 5 404(a)(i)(B), 29 U.S.C. i 104(a)(i)(B), 
more than three vears before he filed this action. 

FN18. Exhibit 921, at 287. 

IV. Violations 

A c  to the remaining allegatiocs, the Court L A" 

concludes plaintiff has proved by a preponderance of 
the evidence that the lending Trustees and Zahn 
violated specific provisions of ERISA. He has not in 
this regard carried the burden as to former Trustees 
Noonan and Bowles or the current Trustees. On the 
other hand, the current Trustees have established the 
one part of their allegations that survived the statute 
of limitations defense. See note 12 supra and 
accompanying text. 

A. Lending Trustees and Zahn. 

JlOJ The Court is satisfied that in making both 
the original and supplemental loans, the lending 
Trustees and Zahn violated 29 U.S.C. 4 
1 1 O4(a)( 1 )(A)(i) by not performing their duties for 
the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to 
participants and their beneficiaries. Proving purpose 
or intent is always difficult, and the Court must reiy 

on circumstantial evidence and reasonable inferences 
to reach its conclusion that the fiduciaries were 
attempting to also satisfy the desires and needs of the 
~ o c a l . ~  While that purpose is not evil or dishonest, 
it is not the exclusive purpose to which ERISA 
fiduciaries must dedicate their efforts. The fiduciaries 
did not hold the Local's proposal for a loan at arm's 
length and compare it to other availzble iwestments, 
but instead did their best to accommodate the Local's 
needs. CJ: Marshall v. Kellv. 465 F.Supp. 341. 350 
(W.D.Okla.1978) (finding violation of this section by 
the making of "sweetheart" loans). 

FN19. That serving the needs of the Local is 
not necessarily the same as serving the 
needs of participants and beneficiaries is 
clear from the facts of this case: plaintiff is 
no longer a member of the Local, but 

~ remains a participant in the Fund. 
Presumably many, if not all, of the 
beneficiaries would also not be members of 
the Local. 

rill The Court is satisfied as well that the 
lending Trustees and Zahn did not exercise the 
p ~ ~ d e c c e  required hx-. - J 29 U.S.C. 6 :104(a)(l\(B! in 
making the original and supplemental loans. The 
plaintiff has set forth a litany of actions the 
fiduciaries did not take in the course of making the 
loans, including properly appraising the proposed 
building, investigating the borrower's financial 
resources, evaluating the likely "237 rental income to 
be derived from the building, taking an assignment of 
rents, requiring sureties on the loan, and requiring a 
principal repayment schedule. The Court cannot say 
that failure to take any of these steps, standing alone, 
would constitute such imprudence as to violate a 
fiduciary's duty. These omissions together do, 
however, constitute such negiectful practice that the 
Court cannot conclude a prudent investor in similar 
circumstances would have acted in the same manner. 
Indeed, the Court is satisfied otherwise. CJ: Donovan 
v. Mazzola, 2 Empl.Ben.Cas. (BNA) 21 15, 2133-35 
(?u'.D.Cal. 198 l j (this section violated by loans made 

f0!!oWino U=-A... ctanAar& of "nnident snrl 
k""""" """ 

informed mortgage lenders7'); Mar-shall v. 
Glass/Metal Ass'n nnd Glasievs & Glassworkers 
Pension Plan, 507 F.Supp. 378, 384 (D.Hawaii ! 980) 
(this section violated by loans made without 
following procedures of "prudent lender"). 
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Had the fiduciaries investigated properly, they 
most likely would have found that the property would 
be worth less than the amount of the loan, that 
REBCOR would have no other assets to which the 
Fund could look for repayment of the loan, that the 
Local was not legally obligated to supply REBCOR 
the hnds with which to make payments on the loan, 
and that the rental income would net be adequate to 
pay the debt service on the loan. Indeed, as the Court 
has heretofore made reference, Zahn in February 
1974 advised the Local membership that the 
anticipated rental income would be inadequate to 
service the mortgage. Thus, the failure to investigate 
led directly to the problems the Fund has experienced 
with regard to the loan. 

Finally, there can be little doubt that in 
serving as Trustees and administrator of the Fund, 
respectively, while also serving as directors of 
REBCOR, Nash, Van Fossen, and Zahn violated 3 
U.S.C. 4 1106(b)(2). Borrowers and lenders 
constitute a paradigm instance of parties whose 
interests are adverse. "Fiduciaries acting on both 
sides of a loan transaction cannot negotiate the best 
terms for either [party]." Czltuiur v Mu~.shull, 590 
F.2d 523. 530 (3d Cir.19791 (emphasis in original) - 

(finding violation of ERISA # 406(b)(2)). 

The plaintiff has not established that the 
lending Trustees, Zahn, or any other Trustee ever 
knew a co-fiduciary had committed a breach of 
fiduciary duties. It follows that none of the 
defendants are liable under 29 U.S.C. 4 1105(a)(l), 
which makes a fiduciary liable "if he participates 
knowingly in, or knowingly undertakes to conceal" a 
co-fiduciary's breach (emphasis added). Similarly, a 
fiduciary is liable under 29 U.S.C. 4 1105(a)(3) only 
if he or she knows of a co-fiduciary's breach and fails 
to remedy it. Absent such estabiished knowledge, the 
defendants cannot be liable. The Court is loath to 
encourage ignorance, and the Court feels strongly 
that in many instances at least some of the fiduciaries 
should have known of the breaches and taken steps to 
'eiiiedy them. The evidence before tlie Court, 
however, does not ~defi~ztely estzb!b!ish the reqired 
knowledge. 

B. Tv'oonan, Bowles, and cuvrent Trustees. 

The violations plaintiff has proved all concern 
the initial and supplemental loans. The lending 

Trustees and Zahn are the defendants liable for these 
violations. To determine whether these defendants 
share liability with the other defendants, the Court 
must examine the remaining allegations, even though 
proving a single violation by a single defendant 
might in theory entitle plaintiff to the relief he seeks. 
For the reasons which follow, the Court concludes 
that the remaining defendants are not liable. These 
defendants were faced with circumstances that were 
hndamentally different from those of their co- 
defendants. A fiduciary for a financial entity that has 
almost all its assets tied up in an under-collateralized 
loan to a borrower with little income simply does not 
have the same options and considerations as a 
fiduciary for a financial entity that has nearly one- 
and-one-half million dollars waiting to be invested in 
whatever manner the fiduciaries choose. 

Again, plaintiff has set f o - 6  a litany of actions 
not taken by the Trustees who succeeded"238 the 
lending Trustees. In addition to some of the actions 
not taken by the lending Trustees, these defendants 
did not seek to raise the interest rate, foreclose on the 
notes, seek guidance from an investment manager, 
etc. No doubt some of the named actions might have 
been beneficial. The Court cannot say that the 
Trustees have been as diligent or as imaginative in 
dealing with the loan as they perhaps could have 
been. In particular, the Trustees might well have 
successhliy induced REBCOR to begin repaying the 
principal earlier and in greater amounts than was 
done. Fairness requires, however, that such a 
possibility be labeled for what it is-speculative. The 
Court cannot, on the evidence before it, conclude that 
the Trustees have been so lax in their duties as to 
violate ERISA's prudence standards or to indicate 
they were not acting for the exclusive purpose of 
providing benefits. 

r14] The only way the Trustees could have 
diversified the plan's investments as required by 3 
U.S.C. 4 1104(a)(l)(C) and the Virginia Prudent Man 
Statute incorporated into the Trust documents would 
have been to divest the Fund of the loan. The 
evidence before the Ceurt indicates that the Fund 
would have suffered a greater loss through such 
divestiture than by retaining the loan and persuading 
REECOR to make such payments as were possible. 
The Court concludes that the Trustees' failure to 
divest the Fund of the loan so far has been clearly 

so that the failure to divest has not 

O 2008 ThomsonIWest. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works. 



567 F.Supp. 225 
567 F.Supp. 225,4 Employee Benefits Cas. 18 16 
(Cite as: 567 F.Supp. 225) 

violated 29 U.S.C. 6 1104(a)(l)(C), (D). 

FN20. The Court intimates no opinion as to 
whether continuing to hold the loan until the 
note comes due on June 30, 1984 would be 
prudent. That determination depends, inter 
alia, on further principal payments by 
WBCGR, prevailing real estate prices, 
rental incomes, and perhaps the health of the 
construction industry in the area, as well as 
other now unforeseeable conditions. 

Finally, plaintiff has offered no authority by 
which the Court could find that either the 1980 
waiver of penalties or the continuing failure to raise 
interest rates could constitute a transfer of assets 
within the meaning of 29 U.C.C. 6 !!l)h!a)(l)(D), 
which proscribes the transfer of assets to a party in 
interest. The Court declines to give such a novel 
interpretation to this common sense term and declines 
to impose liability based on plaintiffs notion of 
economic reality. Cf: Mar~shall v. k'ell~?, 465 F.Supp. 
at 35 1 (finding violation of this section by transfer of 
tangible assets). 

The part of the cross-claim that is not barred 
by the statute of limitations concerns the 
administration of the loan fi-om November 4, 1976 
through January 17, 1977. See note 12 supra and 
zcco111panying text. During that period, 2s fer some 
time before, REBCOR failed to make interest 
payments. The evidence indicates the Trustees had no 
reason to suspect REBCOR was not mahng the 
payments, and the Court discerns no basis for finding 
them liable for the manner in which the delinquent 
interest built up. 

This part of the cross-claim thus pertains only to 
Zahn. The parties have stipulated that Zahn "was 
delegated the duty to receive and record REBCOR 
payments, and to report to the trustees if any 
difficulties arose." The current Trustees allege that in 
failing to properly perform such duties, Zahn 
breached the fiduciary duty set forth in ERISA # 
404(a)(l)(B), 29 U.S.C. 8 1104(a)(l)(B). Zahn 
responds that he was not a fiduciary with respect to 
these duties, as the term is defined in ERISA # 3(21), 
29 U.S.C. 6 1002(21). 

J 171 11 81 Under the statutory definition, "a person 
is a fiduciary with respect to a plan to the extent ... 
(iii) he has any discretionary authority or 
discretionary responsibility in the administration of 
such plan" (emphasis added).= The duty to 
report"239 any difficulties concerning REBCOR's 
interest payments included the authority and 
responsibility for deciding what constituted 
"difficulties," which is a matter of some discretion. A 
responsible administrator might not wish to trouble 
the Trustees if a payment came in a day or two late, 
but would have to decide at some point that the 
failure to pay interest properly had become serious 
enough that the Trustees should know of it. The 
Court has no difficulty in concluding that Zahn 
permitted the delinquencies to build up over a much 
longer period of time and to a much greater Ievel than 
a prudent person in his position would have. 

FN21. The plain language of the statute 
seems to suggest that once a person is a 
fiduciary "with respect to a plan" in any 
capacity, the fiduciary responsibility extends 
to all functions performed for the plan, 
however ministerial or discretionary. But see 
Fulk v. Ba~lev.  88 F.R2-_1_53. 161-63 
[M.D.N.C. 1980). The Court need not, 
however, decide whether such a blanket 
fiduciary status exists, because the Court 
concludes Zahn exercised discretion with 
respect to each function for which liability 
attaches. In the making of the loans, Zahn 
exercised discretion at least in his capacity 
as a member of the committee of three that 
was to evaluate the proposed loan and 
recommend to the Trustees whether or not 
they should extend the loan. See text 
accompanying note 6 supra. 

V .  Additional Defenses 

The lending Trustees and Zahn have raised 
various defenses in addition to the statute of 
limitations defense and the contention that Zahn was 
not a fidiiciary. Tlie Coiii? finds each of tliese 
additional defenses to be without merit. 

Certain of the lending Trustees assert that 
the Court is not to overturn the decisions of the 
Trustees unless it finds them to have been arbitrary 
and capricious. That standard applies only to review 
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of determinations as to eligibility for benefits. See, 
e.g., Seafavel~s Pension Plan v. Stuvpis, 630 F.2d 21 8 
(4th Cir.1980). The standard for review of the 
fiduciaries' performance of their duties is set forth in 
ERISA # 404, 29 U.S.C. # 1104, and the Court need 
not look beyond the terms of the statute in reviewing 
the manner in which the Trustees and Zahn 
discharged their fiduciary d~t ies .  

The lending Trustees also assert that 
pursuant to ERISA $ 414(c)(l), 29 U.S.C. $ 
11 14(c)(l), the original loan was exempt from the 
prohibited transaction coverage of ERISA # 406, 29 
U.S.C. # 1106.- Under # 414(c)(l), a party-in- 
interest transaction may be exempt if, inter alia, a 
binding contract was in effect on July 1, 1974. As of 
that date, however, all the instant parties had agreed 
to do was to negotiate concerning a loan. The 
evidence falls far short of establishing a binding, 
enforceable contract as of that date.= 

FN22. Even if this defense were successhl, 
it would only apply to the conflict-of- 
interest violation of Nash, Van Fossen, and 
Zahn, since the other ff 406 allegations are 
hz-red by the st~pgte of !imita?ions. 

FN23. In a related contention, the Trustees 
assert the transaction took place before 
ERISA's January 1, 1975 effective date, 
established in ERISA § 414. The Deed of 
Trust note on the original loan was executed 
on January 23, 1975. None of the 
transactions the Court has found to 
constitute violations occurred before January 
1, 1975. And post-1974 violations are 
covered by ERISA even if "their roots [can] 
be traced to an event prior to the effective 
date of ERISA." Marshall v. C~*afi. 463 
F.Supp. 493, 497 (N.D.Ga.1978); accord, 
OrNeil v. Ma~ariott Corp., 538 F.Supp. 1026, 
1033 (D.Md. 1982). 

1211 Finally, the Trustees contend they cannot be 
iiabie since they were reiying in good faith on the 
advice of counsel. They have offered no authority to 
show such reliance constitutes a complete defense. 
'The Court considers the defendants' reliance on the 
advice of counsel to be simply one of the factors 
relevant to determining whether they acted with the 
prudence required by ERISA # 404, 29 U.S.C. ff 

1. Even if the fiduciaries interpreted the advice of 
counsel to mean that the loan would not violate 
federal law,- they were nonetheless bound to 
evaluate the proposed investment for its merit in 
helping provide "240 benefits to the beneficiaries and 
participants. The Court remains firm in its conclusion 
that the fiduciaries did not make this evaluation in a 
prudent manner. 

FN24. The current Trustees and the Fund 
have filed a separate action against the 
Fund's former legal counsel styled Local 
666 BeneJit Trust Fund, et a/., v. McGuive, 
Woods & Battle, et al., Civil Action No. 82- 
0221-R. Some of the former Trustees and 
Zahn have moved to file third-party 
complaints in this action against the same 
former legal counsel. The motions will be 
granted, but the claims will be consolidated 
for trial with the existing action against 
McGuire, Woods & Battle et al. The Court's 
conclusions in the instant matter have no 
bearing on that action, and the Court 
intimates no opinion as to the merits thereof. 

1221I231 Pursuant to ERISA ff 409(a), 29 U.S.C. 
5 1109(a), a fiduciary is personally liable to the plan 
for any losses resulting &om breaches of the 
fiduciary's duties and is subject to other equitable or 
remedial relief: including removal from office. Under 
this provision, the lending Trustees and Zahn are 
jointly and severally liable for the 1 0 s s e s . ~ ~ e e  
F;*eund v. Mar-sl~all & Ilslet: Bank, 485 F.Supp. 629, 
642-44 (W.D.Wis.1979). There appears to be no way 
to monetarily measure certain aspects of the injury 
caused by the breaches. For example, the Fund has 
been deprived of economic opportunities by having 
virtually all of its assets tied up in this inferior 
investment, but the parties have offered no means of 
measuring the loss of such opportunities caused by 
this concrete albatross. One type of loss, however, 
can be measured: the Fund today hoids an investment 
.-.I wa"at; - - -  is sigiii~cani:;y less ihaii the Valne 

prudent investments would bear. That difference in 
value represents the damage the Fund has 
suffered.- 

FN25. The evidence does not establish any 
means by which any loss caused hy the 
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conflict of interest of Nash, Van Fossen, and 
Zahn can be separated from the loss caused 
by the other fiduciaries' breaches of duty. 
The evidence thus indicates that each of the 
lending Trustees and Zahn are equally 
responsible for the losses. 

FN26, TI---- .- - - 
I IIGIG ;b 11" need to waii iintil the note 

matures on June 30, 1984 or to liquidate the 
note to determine its value. The Court will 
not retain jurisdiction of this action, as some 
parties have suggested, to see whether the 
current assessments of value prove accurate. 
CJ: Fvcund v. Marshall & Ilslev Bank, 485 
F.Supp. at 642-43 (losses realized and 
ascertainable before liquidation of 
investment). 

Plaintiff has submitted affidavits and reports by 
experts setting the value of the note as of February 
28, 1982 at $1,860,000. This valuation represents the 
sum of the income the note had produced as of that 
date, $985,000, and the value plaintiffs experts give 
the security for the note, the Parham Road property, 
$875,000. Simply stated, this valuation places at zero 
Be xrz!ue of REBCQRqs promise ~ ~ ? d e r  the note to 
pay interest and to repay the principal.m By taking 
into account the value of the property, it is, however, 
based on REBCOR's one asset from which REBCOR 
could generate the funds to make such payments. The 
only evidence before the Court on this issue indicates 
that this method of valuing the note is the one an 
investor would use. Since the Court's purpose is to 
evaluate the note as an investment, the Court accepts 
this valuation. 

FN27. In this manner, the valuation takes 
into account some of the problematic 
elements of the loan that resulted from the 
breaches: deficiency of collateral, lack of 
any guarantee or other commitment ti-om the 
Local, lack of a principal repayment 
schedule (binding or even suggested), 
history of problems in coilecting interest, 
ctc. 

In challenging the valuation, the defendants have 
oniy chalienged the method by which piaintiffs 
experts valued the Parham Road property. Plaintiffs 
experts used the "income" approach or "economic" 
approach, capitalizing the expected income stream 

from the building. Some of the defendants contend 
that the proper valuation of the building is 
$1,250,000, which is the amount for which the 
current Trustees' expert estimated the property could 
be sold "through aggressive marketing to potential 
owner-occupants." 

FN28. Affidavit of Lir~wood A. Aron, 
exhibit 94, at 6 (Dec. 9, 1982). 

The Court professes to no expertise in the area of 
real estate valuation. The Court has no means of 
evaluating whether an "income" approach, "market 
value" approach, "cost" approach, "liquidation" 
approach, "aggressive marketing to targeted buyers" 
approach, or some combination of these approaches 
would come closest %a producing, in some sense, a 
"true" valuation of real estate. But the evidence 
before the Court indicates that an investor would 
apply the "income" approach, and there isn't anything 
before the Court to suggest that "241 approach is 
inherently unreliable. The Court concludes that the 
calculation of the value of the note as $1,860,000 is 
accurate. 

.siie of plaiiiiiffs @xperts aisu '.alciila;ed iile 

value as of February 28, 1982, of two real estate 
loans considered to be of comparable scope, but 
better structured, as well as the value as of that date 
of an investment made solely in certificates of 
deposit.m Each of these values is greater than the 
$1,840,000 value of the REBCOR notes. The expert 
suggests averaging the differences in value and using 
the resulting figure, $533,000, as the measure of 
damages. 

FN29. In calculating this present value, the 
expert did not compute the amount of 
income that could have been generated by 
reinvesting the interest from these 
certificates. However, in calculating the 
present value of the REBCOR note, the 
expert also did not compute the amount of 
income that could have been generated by 
reinvesting the interest and principai 
payments received. In each instance, the 
expert assumed such payments would be 
applied to the Fund's current needs. The two 
figures thus can be compared with no 
distortion. 
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The difficulty with the expert's suggested 
measure is that the plaintiff has given the Court no 
reason to suppose that the expert's notion of properly 
structured real estate loans was available to the 
lending Trustees as an option to the investment they 
chose. The Court, therefore, will compare the value 
of the REBCOR notes only with the value of an 
investaent in certificates nf deposit, $2,300,800. The 
difference in value is $440,800; the Court is satisfied 
that this figure represents the amount by which the 
Fund has been damaged by the imprudent investment 
in the REBCOR 1 0 a n s . ~  

FN30. The figure need not be adjusted for 
the amount of any principal payments made 
since February 28, 1982 because the 
comparison with the alternative investment 
was made as of that date. The Fund 
apparently has also suffered a loss in the 
amount of $159.25, the amount of interest it 
had to pay on borrowing made necessary 
because of the amount of the Fund's assets 
tied up in the REBCOR loan. Because this 
element of damages is so minor, and 
because the $440,800 figure is necessarily 
based on estimates and inherently uncertain 
appraisals, the Court deems this element to 
be included in the $440,800 figure. 

The Court finds the other relief plaintiff requests 
to be inappropriate. In particular, as the Court noted 
supra, the Court is not satisfied that divestiture of the 
loan is either necessary or desirable at this time. The 
prudence of such a move must be continually 
reevaluated as conditions change. See note 20 supr.a. 
The plaintiffs requested relief concerning counsel 
fees is considered infm. 

As for the current Trustees' cross-claim, they 
have only asserted broadly that the cross-claim 
defendants are liable for any and all loss resulting 
fi-om their breaches. They have not established the 
amount of loss the Fund suffered as a result of Zahn's 
imprudent administration of the ioan and iack of 
diligence coiiceriGiig iiiterest piiyinents. i~ideed, si~ice 
all of the current Trustees were in office in 1980 
when the penalties for such interest delinquencies 
were ultimately waived, it is not unreasonable to 
suppose they consider the Fund to be now made 
whole for such delinquencies. 

At any rate, no further monetary damages have 
been established, and the Court is not satisfied that 
the further relief requested, such as requiring 
guarantees or additional collateral, is appropriate. 
Such additional relief would amount to double 
recovery, since the absence of such measures was 
part of the basis for the valuation of the REBCOR 
notes. See note 27 supra and accompanying text. 
Since the current Trustees have failed to establish any 
recoverable damages on their cross-claim, see also 
Part VII infm, judgment will be entered in favor of 
the cross-claim defendants. The current Trustees' 
contentions in regard to counsel fees remain to be 
considered. 

VII. Counsel Fees 

This case, despite its facade, is not about 
fiduciary duties or providing health and welfare 
benefits or prudent investments or conflicts of 
interest. This case is about counsel fees. The Court 
has set the amount of damages at $440,800; the Court 
has no doubt that the total legal fees generated by this 
action already amount to some obscene "242 multiple 
of that figure. From the beginning, this case has been 
nhoroCtpy innA hyr nu,-nqp;rip r-mr-no-+ot;rrr? Tho 
UAlC&L''- -d* --LL' " J  U*-U-U""-. r iUpibwrlii'&Ll'Ui.. i lib 

majority of the parties, including the plaintiff, have 
found it necessary to be represented by two or more 
teams of lawyers. Now each of the parties seeks to 
have someone else pay for such representation. 

FN3 1. .At times, the excessive representation 
has been nearly as comical as wasteful. For 
example, one defendant, rather than simply 
joining in the memorandum filed by another 
defendant who had the same interests, filed a 
virtually identical memorandum. 
Unfortunately, in one place he slipped and 
failed to substitute his own name for the 
other defendant's. The Court cannot imagine 
a reason for filing this memorandum other 
than to generate legal fees. See also note 5 
supra. 

The courtroom was so fully occupied with 
lawye~:s at the hearings tiiai, if the Couri may borrow 
an expression without being able to name the source, 
when one lawyer would sneeze, the "Gesundheits" 
wouid take up six pages of transcript. 

The Court will, at the appropriate time, consider 
invoking the sanctions provided for in 28 U.S.C. 6 
1927. Fairness mandates an expression by the Court 
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that at least some of the efforts expended by certain 
of the counsel were made necessary by the 
unnecessary efforts of some of their brethren. 

Unfortunately, the Court cannot dispose of all of 
these claims entirely on the present record. For 
example, certain defendants have filed third-party 
cornplaints against Aetna Life and Casualty 
Company and The Standard Fire Insurance Company 
asserting that pursuant to a policy of fiduciary 
insurance, the third-party defendants had a duty 
to defend them in this action. These third-party 
complaints have, in effect, been severed from the 
principal action. See note 1 supra. The Court can, 
however, consider certain of the contentions. 

FN32. The po!icy is alleged to have covered 
the fiduciaries from May 25, 1977 to May 
25, 1978. Since the Court has found none of 
the defendants liable for any actions taken 
during that period, there should be no 
dispute concerning any claims for indemnity 
under the policy. 

1241 Pcrsuant to ERISA 502(g), 29 U.S.C. r j  
1132' crt, 1 the Couri will aiioiv plainrir'f to collect 
reasonable counsel fees from the lending Trustees 
and Zahn. Applying the standard set forth in Tetzt7eco 
Inc. v. First Virginia Bunk, 698 F.2d 688 at 689 (4th 
~ i r . 1 9 8 3 ) ~ ~ ' ~  the Court finds as follows: (1) these 
defendants are culpable in causing significant loss to 
the Fund; (2) their ability to pay fees is cdmown to 
the Court; (3) there is reason to hope an award of 
counsel fees in this instance will deter others; (4) 
most significantly, the plaintiff has sought to benefit 
the Fund as a whole (though the Court is less 
convinced of the altruistic motives of plaintiffs 
counsel); and (5) the plaintiff is entitled to prevail on 
the merits. The plaintiff will be directed to confer 
with these defendants in an attempt to settle on an 
amount for such fees. Of course, plaintiff will not be 
allowed to recover counsel fees for any duplicative 
work performed by his various teams of lawyers or 
for work performed in pursuit of his unsuccessful 
,-Iaiiiis. 

FN33. In Tenneco I~zc., the Fourth Circuit 
adopted the test for awarding counsel fees 
pursuant to ERISA 502(g) that was set 
forth in Iron Wor/iers Local # 272 1). Bowen, 
024 F.2d 1255, 1266 (5th Cir.19802, under 

which the Court is to consider 
such factors as the following: (1) the degree of 

the opposing parties' culpability or bad faith; (2) the 
ability of the opposing parties to satisfy an award of 
attorneys' fees; (3) whether an award of attorneys' 
fees against the opposing parties would deter other 
persons acting under similar circumstances; (4) 
whether the parties requesting at to~eys '  fees sought 
to benefit all participants and beneficiaries of an 
ERISA plan or to resolve a significant legal question 
regarding ERISA itself; and (5) the relative merits of 
the parties' positions. 

Id. (footnote omitted). 

The current Trustees have requested, as an 
element of the damages sought in their cross-claim, 
that the former Trustees be made to bear the costs of 
defending this litigation. Of course, the cross-claim 
established liability only against Zahn. But at any 
rate, the current Trustees have not shown that any 
breaches of duty proximately caused the litigation to 
transpire. The Court cannot surmise what motivated 
the plaintiff to file suit. But from the evidence, it 
appears at least equally likely plaintiff filed suit in 
frustration after receiving"243 high-handed treatment 
from the current Tnlstees when he made i n q ~ ~ l r i ~ s  
about the REBCOR loan. 

In accordance with the discretion provided 
the Court in ERISA 3 502(g), 29 U.S.C. 6 1132(gJ, 
the Court will not award counsel fees to the current 
Trustees. As to plaintiffs unsuccessful claim against 
them, they have not so much prevailed as eluded 
liability. As to their cross-claim against the lending 
Trustees and Zahn, they have failed to establish a 
right to any relief, and they certainly have conferred 
no benefit upon the Fund beyond what the plaintiff 
has brought about. Applying the Tenneco Inc. 
standard, see note 33 supt-a, to the plaintiffs claims 
against the current Trustees in the principal action, 
(1) the Court finds no reason to conclude that the 
plaintiff brought his action against the current 
Trustees in bad faith; (2) he apparently has little 
ability to pay fees; (3) his efforts do not caii for 
deterrence; (4) the carrezt Trdstees scnght tc ber,ef;lt 
the entire Fund in opposing plaintiff only to the 
extent he sought remedies they believed would harm 
tke %nd, but they also sought to protect their own 
positions; and (5) the merits of the parties' positions 
have been resolved in favor of the current Trustees. 
On balance, no counsel fees are called for. To the 
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extent the Tenneco Inc. factors apply to the cross- 
claim, they are satisfied by plaintiffs recovery of 
counsel fees in the principal action. 

Finally, the plaintiff has requested, as part of his 
relief, that the defendants be required to reimburse 
the Fund for any legal representation the Fund has 
provided them and that the Court order &at no 
defendant be indemnified by the Fund for his costs of 
defending in this action. The record does not reflect 
whether the Fund has, in fact, paid for any such 

The Court will direct the parties to 
submit evidence as to any such payments and to 
submit arguments and supporting authorities as to 
whether such relief is appropriate. 

FN34. In genera!, the parties have reserved 
the issues relative to counsel fees. 

An appropriate order will issue. 

D.C.Va.,1983. 
Davidson v. Cook 
567 F.Supp. 225,4 Employee Benefits Cas. 18i6 

END OF DOCUMENT 
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P ~ e n s i o n  Ben. Guar. Corp. v. Solmsen 
E.D.N.Y.,1987. 

United States District Court,E.D. New York. 
PENSION BENEFIT GUARANTY 

CORPORATION, Plaintiff, 
v. 

Jerry SOLMSEN, Defendant. 
No. 85 C 2083. 

Sept. 16, 1987. 

Pension benefit guaranty corporation, as successor 
trustee to corporate pension plan, brought ERISA 
action against former president of now dehnct 
corporation. The District Court, Nickerson, J., held 
that former president and sole shareholder of now 
dehnct corporation was personally liable for 
breaches of fiduciary duty with respect to company's 
pension trust through his failure to forward employee 
and employer contributions. 

Summary judgment for plaintiff. 

West Headnotes 

I11 Labor and Employment 231H -648 

231H Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 IHVII(K) Actions 
23 lHVII(K)3 Actions to Enforce Statutory 

or Fiduciary Duties 
231Hk64X k Time to Sue and 

Limitations. Most Cited Cases 
(Formerly 296k83.1, 296k83) 

ERISA action against president of now defunct 
corporation, for failure to forward employee and 
employer contributions to pension plan, was not time 
barred, though plaintiffs auditor obtained documents 
in defendant's possession relating to plan more than 
three years before filing of suit, where auditor could 

121 Labor and Employment 231H -461 

Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 1 HVII(C1 Fiduciaries and Trustees 
23 1Hk460 Who Are Fiduciaries 

231Hk461 k. In General. Most Cited 
Cases 

(Formerly 296k44) 
President of now defunct corporation was pension 
plan fiduciary where he was repeatedly named by 
others as being in fiduciary capacity and identified 
himself in numerous documents as fiduciary, though 
he did not bother to learn meaning of titles he 
assumed or read pertinent pr~visions of plan; 
president had discretionary authority over 
management and administration of plan and 
disposition of its assets. Employee Retirement 
Income Security Act of 1974, 5 3(21)(A), as 
amended, 29 U.S.C.P.. 6 1002(21 )(AL). 

Labor and Employment 231H -505 

231K Labor and Employment 
23 1HVII Pension and Benefit Plans 

23 1 HVII(D) Contributions and Funding 
231Hk504 Employers Who Must Make 

Contributions 
231Hk505 k. In General. Most Cited * 

(Formerly 296k10 1) 
Corporate president violated his fiduciary duties 
under pension plan by failing to make employer and 
empioyee contributions, though plan contributions 
were deducted from employee paychecks, and thus 
president was liable to plan's successor trustee for 
unpaid contributions. Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act of 1974, $5  403(c)(1), 404(a)(l), 
400(b)(1), 409(a), 4052(a, b), as amended, 29 
U E C .A 6 4  1103(c)( 11, 1 104(a)(!), 1106(b)(l), 
1109(a), 1362(a, b). 

not determine corporation's actual contributions to 
plan until she obtained complete set of statements of *939 Laivrence F. Landgraff, '?Jashiiigton, D.C. 

deposit, which was received within three years of (Edward MacKiewicz, Gen. Counsel, John H. Falsey, 

filing of suit. Employee Retirement Income Security Asst. Gen. Counsel, Lois Bruckner Parks, Trial Atty., 

Act of 1974, # 413, as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 6 11 13. and Andrew Stewart, Atty., of counsel), Patricia A. 
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Rodenhausen, Acting Regional Sol. of Labor, New 
York City, for plaintiff. 
Melvyn Jay Huber, New York City, for defendant. 

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER 

NICKERSON, District Judge. 
Plaintiff, Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation, 

a wholly-owned United States government 
corporation established pursuant to 29 U.S.C. C; 1302, 
brings this action under the Employee Retirement 
Income Security Act ("ERISA"), 29 U.S.C. ff 1001 et 

Plaintiff, the successor trustee of the A & S Steel 
Rule Die Corporation Pension Trust ("the Plan"), 
alleges that defendant, the former president and sole 
shareholder of A & S Steel Rule Die Corporation ("A 
& S"), a now derilnct corporation, is personally li~b!e 
under 29 U.S.C. ff 1109(a) for breaches of his 
fiduciary duties with respect to the Plan because of 
his alleged failure to forward employee and employer 
contributions to the Plan. The court has jurisdiction 
under 29 U.S.C. C; 1132(c)(l). 

The amended complaint contains two counts. 
The first a!leges, in substance, that defendant 
wi[;llieid L-Giil eII^lPi"yee piij;chec~s ihe errlPioyee 

contributions due the Plan but did not submit them to 
the Plan, and that, as a fiduciary with respect to the 
Plan, he breached his duty under 5 404(a)(l) of 
ERISA, 29 U.S.C. 5 1104(a)(l), and is personally 
liable for those contributions under section 409(a) of 
ERISA, 29 U.S.C. 6 ! !09(a). 

The second count alleges, in substance, that A & 
S was obligated under 26 U.S.C. 4 412 of the Internal 
Revenue Code (IRC) and section 302 of ERISA, 2 
U.S.C. fi 1 082, to make employer contributions so as 
to satisfy the minimum funding requirements of the 
Plan but failed to do so, and that defendant, as a 
fiduciary under ERISA, 29 U.S.C. 6 1002(21), is 
personally liable for the contributions which A & S 
should have made. 

Plaintiff moves for summary judgment on both 
counts. Defendant cross-moves to dismiss the 
complaint or for summary judgment on both counts. 
Plaintiff also moves to strike the affidavit of 
defendant's attorney in support of defendant's cross- 
motion on the ground that it does not meet the 
requirements of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 
560. 

I. FACTS 

The critical facts, as culled &om the voluminous 
materials submitted by the parties, are in substance as 
follows. Defendant's father and one Kurt Auerhann 
formed A & S as a partnership to manufacture and 
sell tools. After A & S incorporated, each former 
partner received 50% of the stock and defendant's 
father became president. Upon his father's death, 
defendant succeeded to the presidency and to his 
father's stock interest. When Auerhann died in 1979 
defendant purchased the remainder of the shares fiom 
the estate. 

"940 A & S employees apparently were first 
covered bji a peiisioii plan in 1964. Iii 1976, A & S 
terminated a contract with New England Mutual Life 
Insurance Company ("New England Life"): which 
until then held the Plan assets, and entered into a new 
contract with State Mutual Life Assurance Company 
of America ("State Mutual"), establishing the pension 
plan at issue. 

The Plan, attached to aiid made a part of the 
contract between A & S anci State Mutuai, is entitied 
the "A & S Steel Rule Die Corporation Pension 
Trust." Under sections 14.01, 14.04 and 14.05 of the 
Plan, A & S is the employer, and, in the absence of 
any appointment by the board of directors of another 
person, is also the Plan Administrator and the Plan . .  . 
5d~ciary resp~nsible f ~ r  ad3:n:stenng the Plan, 
retaining and maintaining its records, communicating 
with its participants, filing reports with regulatory 
agencies, interpreting the Plan, determining questions 
of eligibility, and exercising overall control of the 
operation and administration of the Plan. 

The contract with State Mutual was issued to the 
"Trustees of A & S Steel Rule Die Corporation 
Pension Trust" as the Policyholder. In essence it 
provided that State Mutual was responsible for 
investing and handling the Plan assets paid to it by 
the Trustees of the Plan as the Policyholder. 
However, State Mutual could not purchase a 
retirement annuity for a participant unless it received 
information, which the Policyholder was to provide, 
necessary to determine the annuity amount and unless 
the Plan was adequately funded. Contract sections 
6.02, 7.07-10, and 7.16. The Policyholder was to pay 
necessary funds to State Mutual, id., sections 2.01- 
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2.11, and had authority to withdraw funds, id., 
section 5.07, and demand fund transfers between 
accounts, id., section 5.02. State Mutual explicitly 
disclaimed responsibility as a trustee for the assets it 
managed, id., section 4.10. 

State Mutual's records show that defendant, 
named as ''Trustee," verbally telephoned approval of 
the policy draft. On October 28, 1976 he signed an 
application for the contract. On August 6, 1979 he 
signed, as "President," a "Notice to Contract Holder" 
from State Mutual, stating that the contract had been 
approved by the state Insurance Department and that 
his signature would record "receipt of this contract 
and acceptance of its provisions." On December 15, 
1976 he signed, as "Administrator" and "President & 
Trustee," an agreement with State Mutual entitled 
"Actuarial and Administrative Services Agreement" 
which provided that State Mutual was to provide 
actuarial and administrative services for the Plan and 
that its duties were limited to providing such services. 
On December 10, 1976 he signed, as "President and 
Trustee," an "Optional Service Agreement for Group 
Defined Benefit Retirement Plans7' providing that 
State ~ u t u a i  was to prepare text informing the 
participants about the Plan specifications. subject to 
"client review, approval, reproduction and use," and 
was also to furnish information to assist A & S and 
the Trustees in completing Internal Revenue Service 
filings and a government disclosure form. 

Defendant now says that the insurance agent who 
sold the plan to A & S on behalf of State Mutual 
"represented that the insurer would perform all 
functions." In his deposition in this action, however, 
defendant stated that he had authority to handle 
"major matters" affecting the Plan. Plaintiffs Exhibit 
("Ex.") 1 at 226-27. In an earlier deposition in a 
different case defendant testified that he was the pian 
administrator. Plaintiffs Ex. 2 at 14-15,49-50, 96-97, 
113. Evelyn Cazes, who was bookkeeper for the 
company and, according to defendant, handled 
correspondence with State Mutual and requested 
payments for the Plan, id. at 97, 28-29, testified in a 
deposition that defendant ~ 2 s  tl.e plan ad~inistrator. 
Plaintiffs Ex. 3 1 at 90. Defendant signed documents 
processing A & S employee retirements under the 
Plan as "plan administrator." Plaintiffs Exs. 24-29; 
31 at 90. State Mutual evidently viewed defendant as 
the plan administrator. Plaintiffs Ex. 12; 42; 
Defendant's Ex. B at 72-78, 161-64. 

In addition to signing as Trustee and on behalf of 
the Trustees the documents establishing"941 the 
agreements with State Mutual, defendant signed as 
Trustee a letter authorizing State Mutual to release 
contributions, plus interest, made by an employee to 
the Plan. Plaintiffs Ex. 7 1. Two letters found in A & 
S' files aker its dissolution contain signature blocks 
designating defendant as Trustee. Plaintiffs Exs. 30; 
35. Cazes testified in her deposition that she "knew 
that [she] needed [defendant's] signature as the 
trustee" to obtain her retirement benefits. Plaintiffs 
Ex. 31 at 15. 

State Mutual addressed correspondence to 
defendant as "Trustee." Plaintiffs Exs. 11; 36; 37. 
New England Life &dressed a letter regarding the 
transfer of assets it was holding under its previous 
policy to defendant as "Trustee," Plaintiffs Ex. 38, 
and also sent a request for a letter "from the present 
plan trustee" evidencing the decision to elect a lump 
sum transfer. That request noted that "[olur records 
show [defendant] as the Trustee and the necessary 
!etter should come from him." Plaintiffs Ex. 39. A & 
S' attorneys stated in a letter to plaintiff regarding the 
" 2 ~  &at ,AL & S had ceased to operate that ''[.,]he 
Trustee of the Plan is [defendant]." Plaintiffs Ex. 40. 

Defendant asserts that he "had no idea, nor did 
anyone else at A & S, as to what such terms as 'Plan 
Sponsor,' 'Plan Administrator,' 'Plan Trustee' or 
other similar terms meant in a techical sense." 
Defendant's Affidavit ("Aff.") at 7 10. 

Defendant's affidavit also states that State 
Mutual drafted all documents, designed the plan, 
performed actuarial functions, prepared employee 
information, prepared documents to meet ERISA 
reporting requirements, invested funds, calculated 
contributions due, supplied all forms, and sent 
statements to A & S. He says that whenever a 
question came up about how to complete a form or 
what procedure was appropriate, A & S contacted 
State Mutual. He says his function, along with that of 
other A L(L S personnel, was to maintain participant 
records, send information to State Mutual by filling 
out its forms, request information, check Plan 
records, sign checks, and mail in Plan contributions. 
Id. 

Defendant was directly involved in terminating 
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the contract with New England Life and obtaining the 
transfer of assets from New England Life to the State 
Mutual Plan. Plaintiffs Exs. 15-22; 1 at 124-29. New 
England Life ultimately sent the lump sum value of 
the payments under the previous New England Life 
policy directly to defendant, Plaintiffs Ex. 38, 
evidently after receiving authorization from 
defendant as Trustee af the State Mutua! Plan, 
Plaintiffs Ex. 39. Defendant was one of only a few 
people at A & S with authority to make payments to 
the Plan. Plaintiffs Exs. 1 at 64-65, 233-34, 251; 2 at 
28-29. The others were his subordinates. Plaintiffs 
Ex. 1 at 56-57, 89-91, 213-14. Only defendant or A 
& S' vice-president could write sizable checks. Id. at 
64-65. 

Defendant testified at his depositions that one of 
his responsibilities as plan administrator was to retain 
and maintain Plan records, Plaintiffs Ex. 2 at 15, and 
that he had the right to determine if a participant was 
paid the right amount and to check the records if a 
question arose, Plaintiffs Ex. 1 at 62, 89. He 
authorized individual employee retirements, 
Plaintiffs Exs. 25; 26; 1 at 219, 264, and notified 
State Mutuai of employee retirements, Raintiffs Exs. 
24: 28: 29. 

Defendant authorized release of employee 
contributions to retiring employees, Plaintiffs Exs. 
71; 2 at 54-55, and was directly involved in 
determining Cazes' eligibility to receive credit for 
past years of service, Plaintiffs Ex. 2 at 61. 
According to Cazes' deposition testimony, defendant 
signed all retirement forms requiring the plan 
administrator's signature. Plaintiffs Ex. 31 at 90. 
State Mutual sought advice from defendant about 
Cazes' benefit determination. Plaintiffs Ex. 64. State 
Mutual personnel contacted defendant when 
, , . 
-'Important matters requiring a decision," such as 
authorization to release employee Plan contributions, 
arose. Woslegal Aff. at 7 3. 

The plan was underfinanced from its inception. 
Defendant was weli aware of this deficiency and the 
fact that iiiiiiiiriciiii contribiitions"942 were not iiiade. 
Plaintiffs Exs. 1 at 234; 2 at 17-18; Defendant's Aff. 
at 7 2. He testified at his deposition that he did not 
how how ----- llluch was owed but that he did not ask 
State Mutual to compute the amount because that was 
not his "principal concern." Plaintiffs Ex. 1 at 243- 
44. In fact, plaintiffs uncontradicted computations 

show that when the Plan was terminated, it was owed 
$185,640 in contributions, including $19,758.54 in 
employee contributions deducted from paychecks but 
not forwarded to the Plan and $165,881.16 in 
employer contributions. 

State Mutual notified A & S that it was not 
meeting its yearly ciuiies to fund the Pian. PiaintifTs 
Exs. 34; 62. According to defendant's deposition 
testimony, Cazes consulted him "numerous times" to 
ask him to make payments, but he did not seek to 
find out the amount due because "[nlobody was 
pressing for it." Plaintiffs Exs. 1 at 245; 2 at 28. 
Contributions were made "whenever the money was 
available" and if the bank balance was "sufficient." 
Plaintiffs Ex. 1 at 235, 251. Defendant viewed 
meeting the payroll as "the top priority," and 
payments to the Plan were a priority "no lower than 
anything else" with items other than payroll paid "on 
priority of who stood at the door knocking." 
Compared with payroll payments, "[elverything else 
took second seat." Id. at 253, 284. 

Deductions for pension contributions made from 
employee salaries went without segregation into the 
genera! cozpany acccunt, from Pih.ich paq.mec:f? 
were made to State Mutual to fund the Plan. Ex. 1 at 
273, 251. The employee deductions were not, 
however, forwarded in full to the Plan. Id. at 273, 
283. Defendant states that when State Mutual sent 
"disclosure information about the Plan status and 
each participant's benefits," the information was 
distributed "in accordance with State Mutual's 
instructions." Defendant's Aff. at 7 10. However, 
defendant did not inform the employees that although 
they received paycheck stubs showing pension 
deductions, at least a portion of those deductions was 
not represented by money in the bank or forwarded 
on their behaif to the Plan. Plaintiffs Ex. 1 at 285-86. 
According to his deposition testimony, the defendant 
viewed deductions kom employee paychecks not as 
"money," but rather as "figures" or "numbers"; the 
general company account monies were allocated first 
to net payl-oll and iheii among creditors pressing for 
pay~er,t .  Id at 281-85. 

A & S' financial condition deteriorated in late 
1979 or early 1980, id. at 292, and the company 
obtained financing from Trefoil Capital Corporation 
("Trefoil"), a factor A & S used to obtain loans 
against its accounts receivable from 1977 or 1978, id. 
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at 276. A & S paid a minor part of its loan balance 
owed to the factor and used the remainder to pay 
expenses such as pension contributions. Defendant's 
Aff. at 7 9. 

Some time in 1980 Trefoil assumed financial 
control of A & S and began running the business. 
Ilaintiffs Ex. i at 276, 288. k & S provided Trefoil 
with information about its operating expenses, and 
Trefoil allocated money to pay bills and provided 
accounting indicating the allocation. Id. at 278, 280. 
Although pension contributions were shown as 
deductions from employee paychecks, Trefoil, with 
defendant's knowledge, failed to make these 
contributions to the Plan. Id. at 278-79. Defendant 
did not so inform the A & S employees. Id. at 285. 
His affidavit states that "the choice came down to 
obeying Trefoil's instructions regarding which A & S 
expenses were to be paid ... including pension 
contributions, or going out of business," and that "A 
& S chose to remain in business." Defendant's Aff at 
B 9. 

A & S went out of business in May 1981. 
Plaintiffs auditor was assigned in June 1981. 
n ~ f ~ n r t ~ n t  n~hm;ttert nnt ;~o  hx-7 llpttpr sL1tS?ber 2. Y"""UU"' "="""LL'U """"C -, '""-' -'> 

198 1 of termination of the Plan. Plaintiffs Ex. 32. In 
late 1981 plaintiffs auditor began her audit. She 
traveled in March 1982 to New York to examine and 
take defendant's copies of papers relating to the Plan. 
Defendant's Aff. at 7 3. By agreement dated June 7, 
1982 and signed by defendant on behalf of A & S on 
March 18, 1982, plaintiff was appointed trustee of the 
Plan. Plaintiffs Ex. 33. The agreement stated that 
plaintiff was unable to determine whether the assets 
*943 under the Plan were sufficient to discharge all 
the Plan obligations. Id. 

Cazes was deposed on December 20, 1982 with 
regard to a lawsuit she brought. Plaintiffs Ex. 3 1. 
Defendant was deposed in that action on March 24, 
1983. Plaintiffs Ex. 2. A State Mutual employee was 
deposed in that action on December 22 and 28, 1982. 
Defendant's Ex. B. According to an affidavit fiied by 
plaintiffs auditor, she was iiiiable to deteiiiiiiie the 
extent of A & S contributions to the Plan during the 
period of the contract with State Mutual until she 
acquired a cornpiete set of Statements of Deposit 
produced as an exhibit in the State Mutual 
employee's December 1982 deposition. 

A. Statute of Limitations 

j3.J Defendant's cross-motion asserts that this 
action, filed June 7 ,  1985, is barred by the three-year 
statute of limitations set forth at 29 U.S.C. C; 11 13. 
The statute provides in relevant part that "[nlo action 
may be commenced ... with respect to a fiduciary's 
breach ... after ... (2) three years after the earliest date 
(A) on which the plaintiff had actual knowledge of 
the breach or violation." Defendant argues that 
plaintiff had enough knowledge to bring this action in 
March 1982 when its auditor obtained the documents 
in defendant's possession relating to the Plan. 

Defeiidant did not raise this defense in his 
answer despite the requirements of Federal Rule of 
Civil Procedure 12(b) and although he knew of the 
time when the auditor obtained the papers. In any 
event, the statute requires "actual knowledge." 
Plaintiffs auditor avers without contradiction that she 
could not determine A & S' actual contributions to 
the Plan until sometime after December 1982 when 
she obtained 2 cozplete set of Statements of Deposit. 
Even if &e documenis she I-eeeived koiii defendanr 
in March 1982 were sufficient to show his fiduciary 
status and the underfunding of the Plan, plaintiffs 
auditor could not know if the underfunding was due 
to defendant's failure to forward contributions 
without a complete record of the actual deposits 
made. 

B. Sewice of Process 

Defendant's cross-motion asserts that plaintiff 
did not exercise due diligence in obtaining service of 
ths comp!zint. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 3 
provides that a civil action is commenced by the 
filing of a complaint. As noted, the complaint was 
filed on June 7 ,  1985. By motion filed October 7, 
1985, plaintiff asked the court to grant a 60-day 
extension of time to serve defendant. Plaintiff 
explained that it was having difficulty locating 
defendant because he had moved and left no 
forwarding address. The court signed an order dated 
October 8, 1985 extending plaintiffs time to serve to 
and including December 6, 1985. The complaint was 
duly served on December 5, 1985, not on December 
10, 1985 as defendant represents. 
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C. Defendant's Fiduciavy Status and Breach of 
Fiducia y Duties 

A central issue posed by the motion and cross- 
motion is whether defendant was a Plan fiduciary and 
breached his fiduciary duties. 

ERISA provides in relevant part fhat 
a person is a fiduciary with respect to a plan to 

the extent (i) he exercises any discretionary authority 
or discretionary control respecting management of 
such plan or exercises any authority or control 
respecting management of disposition of its assets ... 
or (iii) he has any discretionary authority or 
discretionary responsibility in the administration of 
such plan. 

29 U.S.C. 6 1002(21)(A). 

Defendant contends he was not a fiduciary 
because he was not named in the Plan as a trustee or 
plan administrator. Cj29 U.S.C. 6 4  1102(a), 1103(a). 
The Plan provided for appointment of its fiduciaries 
by A &L S' Board of Directors. Plan sections 14.01 
and 14.04. But defendant testified in his deposition in 
Chis case Chat he aid not recaii a board of directors, 
could not name any members of a board, and did not 
believe A & S had a board of directors. Plaintiffs Ex. 
1 at 23-24, 25. The evidence "944 shows that 
defendant signed as "Trustee" the documents 
implementing the agreement with State Mutual and 
signed ~t !east one k t e r  IS ''Trustee'' zthorizing 
State Mutual to release contributions. The court does 
not accept defendant's speculation that other persons 
may have added these titles to documents bearing 
defendant's signature after he signed. Not only State 
Mutual, but also New England Life and A & S' own 
attorneys and bookkeeper, Cazes, all viewed 
defendant as the Trustee of the Plan. 

Moreover, defendant signed several documents, 
including the "Actuarial and Administrative Services 
Agreement" with State Mutual, as plan administrator. 
He named himself as the "plan administrator" in a 
deposition, and Cazes so identified him in her 
deposition. State Mutual repeatedly referred 
correspondence and forms to defendant as "plan 
administrator." 

The evidence therefore demonstrates that 
defendant identified himself as the Trustee and plan 

administrator of the Plan. Congress' intent in enacting 
ERISA would hardly be hrthered if defendant could 
escape the fiduciary status he assumed by relying on 
the failure of an apparently nonexistent corporate 
board of directors formally to give him a fiduciary 
title. The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals has observed 
in a similar case that "while the designation of a 
person as a trustee or p!an administrator is not 
dispositive, it is certainly not irrelevant." Donovan v. 
Mercer, 747 F.2d 304, 309 (5th Cir.1984). The court 
in that case held the defendant, although not formally 
appointed a trustee, to be a fiduciary where she was 
"represented" in various documents as a trustee and 
took actions in an official capacity as trustee. See id. 

Defendant asserts that he did not understand "in 
a technical sense" the meaning of the terms "trustee" 
or "plan administrator." The Fifth Circuit rejected 
just such an argument in Donovan, supra, at 308 n. 4, 
noting the "long standing and generally accepted 
principle of contract law that ... a person who 
intentionally signs a document is bound by its 
contents." See also Miller v. Lav Trucking Comparzy, 
606 F.Supp. 1326, 1334-35 (N.D.Ind. 1985) (holding 
that one who is named in documents as pian 
administrator. signs documents as plan administrator. 
and assumes discretionary authority in the 
administration of the pension plan is a fiduciary). 

121 This court holds that a person who is 
repeatedly named by others in a fiduciary capacity 
and so identifies himself in numerous documents is a 
fiduciary, even though he did not bother to learn the 
meaning of the titles he assumed or read the pertinent 
provisions of the Plan. 

Defendant argues that he was not a fiduciary 
because he did not exercise discretion or control and 
that his actions were "ministerial." He relies on an 
Internal Revenue Service regulation stating that a 
person is not a fiduciary who has "no power to make 
any decisions as to plan policy, interpretations, 
practices or procedures" but performs "administrative 
hnctions" such as appiication of benefit eligibiiity 
d e s ,  caIciilaiion of beiiefiis, claim pi-ocessiiig, repoit 
preparation and record maintenance "within a 
framework of policies, interpretations, rules, 
practices and procedures made by other persons." 2 
C.F.R. 6 2509.75-8 at D-2 Q (1986). 

The record demonstrates that defendant had 
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